

Exploring the impact of experience-based medical learning on students' clinical preparedness: A case study of the South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration programme at the University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

Dr M.I. Motala - Student number (893281499)

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree by full dissertation for MMEDSCI at the University of KwaZulu- Natal.

Supervisor: Dr J. M. van Wyk

November 2014

KEYWORDS

The South-African Cuban Medical Collaboration Programme South Africa Cuba Context Curriculum Clinical Skills Fourth year undergraduate medical students Medical training Competence Preparedness

UKZN

•

ABSTRACT

Background:

The South-African-Cuban Medical Collaboration (SACMC) programme involves medical training being offered to rural South African (SA) origin students in Cuban facilities with the view of future medical practice in local rural SA settings. The students on the SACMC programme return to South African medical schools to complete their training and clinical practice in their 4th academic year. The students experience difficulty in adapting to local clinical demands and integrating their prior knowledge as required at the Nelson R Mandela, School of Medicine, (NRMSM) of the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) in Durban, South Africa as evidenced from examination board minutes.

Aim:

In an effort to inform educators of the extent to which students' prior clinical training and experiences in Cuba matched the clinical skills taught at the NRMSM, this study investigated the similarity or difference in approach to the curriculum, clinical skills content and perceived competence of the SACMC students to a set of 75 core clinical skills which are deemed essential during training in years 1-3 at the institution.

Methods:

A mixed methodology study used a phenomenological approach to explore the clinical experiences of 11 South-African -Cuban medical collaboration students. Qualitative data collected by means of interviews and a questionnaire were used to determine the curriculum approach and content. A questionnaire generated quantitative data about students' familiarity; exposure and perceived competence (ability to perform independently, with supervision or not at all) on 75 specific skills which are considered a prerequisite to enter the 4th academic year at the NRMSM. The skills in 9 major categories, included communication, resuscitation, adult examination, new-born examination, general procedural skills, specimen collection, obstetrics and gynaecology procedures, airway management procedures and radiological examination.

Findings:

The didactic, lecture intensive Cuban curriculum with its emphasis on primary health care principles and predominance of ward-based clinical training was found to be vastly different from the problem-based, systematic and practical oriented laboratory-based clinical training offered to local students. The majority of students self-reported a lack of exposure to 35 of the overall 75 identified skills. Most students claimed an inability to independently perform 95% (4 out of 75 skills- able to perform 5%) of clinical skills. The qualitative data revealed that many primary health care skills were neither taught nor practiced by students within the first 5 years of training in Cuba.

Conclusion:

This study has highlighted the mismatch between the focus and scope of clinical training offered to students on the South African-Cuban Medical Collaboration programme and those at the NRMSM. In the light of continued collaboration in health education and to ensure that returning students are adequately supported and integrated into the SA clinical setting, it is important that educators work towards improving the alignment of the training programs.

Keywords: South-African-Cuban Medical Collaboration (SACMC) programme student, medical education, clinical skills, undergraduate medical students, Nelson R Mandela School of medicine (NRMSM), South African context.

DECLARATION

I declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted in any form for any other degree or diploma at any university or other institution of tertiary education.

Information derived from the published or unpublished work of others has been acknowledged in the text and a list of references is given.

Dr M.I.Motala

Signature

Date: 16/11/2014

Dr J. Van Wyk Signature

Date: 16/11/2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

- I would like to acknowledge my profound thanks to Dr Van Wyk, who supported me on my journey towards this degree. Her academic support and patience have been invaluable to me.
- I would like to thank Dr M. Matthews for her input and support from clinical skills.
- I would also like to thank Professor Adhikari for her support through the process.

•

• I would like to thank the eleven SACMC students who participated in this study for their enthusiasm and genuine interest in improving the programme for future students.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

SACMC- South-African-Cuban Medical Collaboration programme.

HPCSA- Health Professions Council of South Africa

UKZN- University of KwaZulu-Natal

NRMSM- Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine

PBL- Problem Based Learning

SCM- School of Clinical Medicine

MBChB- Bachelor of Medicine and Surgery

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Miller's Prism of Clinical Competence (adapted from Miller's (1990) pyramid) (Mehay & Burns, 2009)

Figure 2: Conceptual frameworks underpinning the study

Figure 3: Experiential learning Cycle (Kolb, 1984:41).

Figure 4: Aligning learning outcomes, learning and teaching activities and the assessment. Adapted from Biggs (1999: 27).

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Clinical Skills Categories

Table 2: A summary of the conceptual frameworks of the study

Table 3: A methodological summary of the study

Table 4: Content of medical curriculum in Cuba

Table 5: Overall Clinical skill results showing exposure and non – exposure to clinical skills in Cuba and location of training for each skill as well as level of performance

Table 6: Comparison of Clinical skill exposure and non – exposure of the Cuban trained students per category and training location

Table 7: Perceived Competence of the skill in majority of students

Table of Contents

KEYWORDS	II
ABSTRACT	III
DECLARATION	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VI
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
FIGURE 1: MILLER'S PRISM OF CLINICAL COMPETENCE (ADAPTED FROM MILLER'	S
(1990) pyramid) (Mehay & Burns, 2009)	6,30
FIGURE 2: CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORKS UNDERPINNING THE STUDY	25
FIGURE 3: EXPERIENTIAL LEARNING CYCLE (KOLB, 1984:41)	VIII
FIGURE 4: ALIGNING LEARNING OUTCOMES, LEARNING AND TEACHING ACTIVITIES	S AND
THE ASSESSMENT. ADAPTED FROM BIGGS (1999: 27).	VIII
LIST OF TABLES	IX
TABLE 1: CLINICAL SKILLS CATEGORIES	19
TABLE 2: A SUMMARY OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORKS OF THE STUDY	24
TABLE 3: A METHODOLOGICAL SUMMARY OF THE STUDY	36
TABLE 4: CONTENT OF MEDICAL CURRICULUM IN CUBA	44
TABLE 5: OVERALL CLINICAL SKILL RESULTS SHOWING EXPOSURE AND NON –	
EXPOSURE TO CLINICAL SKILLS IN CUBA AND LOCATION OF TRAINING FOR EACH S	KILL
AS WELL AS LEVEL OF PERFORMANCE	46-50
TABLE 6: COMPARISON OF CLINICAL SKILL EXPOSURE AND NON – EXPOSURE OF T	ΉE
CUBAN TRAINED STUDENTS PER CATEGORY AND TRAINING LOCATION	51
TABLE 7: PERCEIVED COMPETENCE OF THE SKILL IN MAJORITY OF STUDENTS	52
CHAPTER ONE	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 SHORTAGE OF DOCTORS IN RURAL AREAS	1
1.3 SOUTH AFRICAN-CUBAN COLLABORATION PROGRAMME	2
1.4 CONTEXT OF THE STUDY AND NRMSM ROLE IN THE SACMC PROGRAMME	2
1.5 CLINICAL SKILLS TRAINING AT NRMSM	4

1.6 UNDERSTANDING CLINICAL SKILLS EDUCATION
1.7 Problem statement7
1.8 Aims and Benefits of the Study7
1.9 Research questions8
1.10 Interpretation of competence, clinical preparedness and performance 8
1.11 LIMITATIONS
1.12 CONCLUSION
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW12
2.1 INTRODUCTION12
2.2 CUBAN HEALTH CARE ENVIRONMENT AND INTERNATIONAL HEALTH CARE12
2.3 THE SACMC PROGRAM IN TERMS OF MEETINGS AND AGREEMENTS14
2.4 CUBAN CURRICULUM15
2.5 THE UKZN CURRICULUM: PHILOSOPHY, CLINICAL SKILLS TEACHING AND
LEARNING OUTCOMES16
2.6 THE SACMC STUDENTS AND THE SOUTH AFRICAN HEALTH CARE ENVIRONMENT.20
2.7 CONCLUSION
CHAPTER THREE: THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
3.1 INTRODUCTION
3.2 IMPACT OF PRIOR KNOWLEDGE ON LEARNING
3.3 Experiential Learning
3.4 TRANSFER OF LEARNING THEORIES
3.5 MILLER'S PRISM OF CLINICAL COMPETENCE
3.6 BIGGS' (1999) ALIGNMENT THEORY
3.7 CONCLUSION
CHAPTER FOUR: METHODOLOGY
4.1 INTRODUCTION
4.2 Research Design
4.3 Study Area/Setting
4.4 Study Sample
4.5 PILOTED STUDY
4.6 DATA COLLECTION
4.7 DATA ANALYSIS STRATEGIES
xi

4.8 Ethics and Human Subjects Issues	37
4.9 Role of the researcher	37
4.10 TRUSTWORTHINESS OF THE QUALITATIVE DATA	38
4.11 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	40
4.11.1 Study design	40
4.11.2 Limitations as a researcher	40
4.11.3 Limitations of the research instruments used in the data collection	40
4.11.4 Limitations of participants	41
4.12 CONCLUSION	41
CHAPTER 5: FINDINGS	41
5.1 INTRODUCTION	41
5.2 Demographic Characteristics	42
5.3 Curriculum Approach	42
5.4 Content of Medical Curriculum in Cuba	43
5.5 STUDENTS EXPOSURE TO CLINICAL SKILLS	45
5.6 IMPACT OF PRIOR CLINICAL EXPERIENCES AND SKILLS TRAINING ON PERCEIVE	ED
COMPETENCE	52
5.7 IMPACT OF PRIOR CLINICAL EXPERIENCES ON STUDENT COMPETENCE	53
5.7.1 Philosophy of the Cuban Curriculum	53
5.7.2 Clinical skills experiences of teaching in Cuba	54
5.7.3 Clinical skills competency, student awareness of gaps in knowledge an	d
suggestions for improvement of program	55
5.8 CONCLUSION	56
CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION	57
6.1 Introduction	57
6.2 CURRICULUM APPROACH AND CLINICAL SKILLS CONTENT	57
6.3 STUDENTS' TRAINING AND PERCEIVED COMPETENCE IN PERFORMING CLINICA	٨L
SKILLS	58
6.4 Recommendations	62
6.5 CONCLUSION	64
REFERENCES	65
APPENDICES	74
	xii

APPENDIX 1: STUDY INFORMATION DOCUMENT	.74
Appendix 2: Informed Consent Document	.76
APPENDIX 3: ETHICAL APPROVAL DOCUMENT	.77
APPENDIX 4: INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	.78
Appendix 5: Questionnaire 1	.79
Appendix 6: Questionnaire 2	.85

CHAPTER ONE

1.1 Introduction

This chapter introduces the study and provides a broad overview of the reasoning behind conducting a study of this nature. It includes information regarding the need for doctors in rural South Africa, the nature of the South African Cuban Medical Collaboration programme (SACMC), the extent of the involvement of the Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine (NRMSM) of the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) with the SACMC programme and clinical skills training at NRMSM.

1.2 Shortage of doctors in rural areas

There is a critical shortage of medical doctors to serve the health needs of South Africa. This stems back as far as the apartheid era (Wilson et al, 2009). South Africa's critical shortage of doctors has been estimated as approximately 0.57 doctors for every 1,000 people, compared with an average of two to five doctors for every 1000 people in developed countries (Health Systems Trust, 2013). The World Health Organization estimates that 36 countries throughout Africa face a critical shortage of health personnel (WHO, 2006). This shortage of doctors is even more apparent in rural areas and among rural communities as doctors have a tendency to move toward urban areas post qualification. This is a global problem that poses a serious threat to equitable health care for the whole population irrespective of social class, race or gender. Previous apartheid policies have resulted in great disparity leaving approximately 43% of South Africans living in rural areas, often with greater health related problems, but with access to only 12% of the medical workforce (Wilson et al, 2009). In efforts to redress these inequalities and in trying to improve the health care outcomes of rural and disadvantaged communities, the SA government has entered into various initiatives to increase the health care workforce and address the needs of rural communities, stemming from local studies such as De Vries and Reid (2003) suggesting the likelihood of rural-origin medical students to choose rural careers. The SA government has entered into an intergovernmental agreement with Cuba to assist in the medical training of South African students from rural locations (Blunden, 2008). One of the ways that the South African government is able to incentivise students to study medicine and then work in rural areas is to provide scholarships while applying conditions to those scholarships. These conditions would be a commitment to work in rural areas or areas of greatest need and by recruiting students from these areas and then encouraging students who qualify to return to help the communities from which they originated. Eyal & Barnighausen, 2012 have shown the effectiveness of strategies to increase doctors in areas of critical shortage by applying conditions to medical school scholarships and how effective this strategy is for increasing the doctors in underserved areas.

1.3 South African-Cuban Collaboration Programme

The collaboration programme started in 1996 with South African provinces recruiting black and disadvantaged high school graduates for medical training in Cuba. The first group of 92 students began in 1996 in Cuba. All students were offered full scholarships with the understanding that they return to practice in the public sector in rural and underserved areas of South Africa for the same amount of time they spent training in Cuba (approximately 5 years) (Reed & Torres, 2008). Students on the programme study in Cuba for the first 5 years of a 7 year programme. They return to South Africa in their 6th Cuban academic year to complete their training at one of the 8 local South African medical training facilities. The first year at the Cuban institute involves a premedical training course in the form of a bridging course during which students become proficient in Spanish as the medium of instruction at the Cuban training facilities. Students then spend two years studying the basic sciences followed by three years of clinical sciences at one of three Cuban medical training facilities which are involved in the SA-Cuban exchange programme. Students return in their Cuban 6th year to one of eight South African medical schools to complete their clinical training. It involves an eighteen month period during which time they rotate through the clinical departments before taking a South African exit examination and graduating from the local SA medical school. (Reed & Torres, 2008) This is done to allow the students to integrate back into the South African health care system.

1.4 Context of the study and NRMSM role in the SACMC Programme

Students on the SACMC programme scholarship who return to the Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine of the University of KwaZulu Natal (UKZN), join the local fourth year class in the second semester of their training. They experience a period of between

4-to 6 months adjusting to the South African clinical setting without having to participate in any of the examinations. The students from the collaboration programme join the local 5th year class at the start of the new academic year. This entails being grouped for the rest for clinical rotations, attending ward rounds, clerking patients, keeping logbooks and completing the block assessments and clinical examinations with their peers who have completed all the components of their medical training attached to the teaching and medical training facilities and platforms of the UKZN. This allows the students to become familiar with the South African health care system, and to complete their training in accordance with the requirements needed for practicing as an intern in South Africa (Jaschinski & De Villiers, 2008).

Interactions with students who join the South African group and observations as clinical coordinator to the 4th year suggests that the students find the re-integration process challenging. Their struggles in adjusting and passing the local examinations are also evidenced by the academic results of the SACM programme students over the last decade (Ngidi, 2013). The SACMC students have demonstrated specific difficulty in passing the clinical examinations in the 5th year of medical study. While some repeat a number of the clinical blocks through which they had rotated, others often have had to repeat the whole year (Ngidi, 2013).

In an attempt to assist the collaboration students' academic transition, the school instituted a formal programme in 2012 to supplement their academic experiences. Local academics, like the researcher who are involved in the training of the students, do not always have an adequate understanding of the students' prior clinical experience in Cuba to help facilitate their transition. The Joint Academic meeting of South African and Cuban Deans of medical health faculties was held in Pretoria on July 04 2013. It appears that the South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration programme is due to continue for at least another decade and beyond with an increased intake of students to meet the growing health care demands of local rural communities and therefore in fact an increased intake of students from South Africa will result in an increasing intake of students in the fourth year of medicine at UKZN (Joint Academic Meeting, 2013). There is thus much need to ensure that the students are adequately supported and properly integrated for the tasks that lie ahead. It appears that the research and subsequent needed intervention is therefore essential to ensure that

returning students will be allocated appropriate time and resources to support them in their clinical transition process.

The successful design of any such programme however, rests on an accurate diagnosis of the academic needs of the students. In the absence of local and international research comparing the design and outcomes of the programmes on which the students study, this study was conceived to understand and explore the nature and scope of the clinical training of the SACMC students. It is envisaged that such understanding will greatly enhance the design and quality of support and interventions programme to the students who need to integrate their prior learning upon joining the programme at the NRMSM system.

1.5 Clinical skills training at NRMSM

Our current medical curriculum at UKZN consists of 6 years of study. Each year of study from year 1 to year 3 has a set of clinical as well as procedural skills that are linked to the various modules. Clinical skills are taught over the three years in increasing levels of complexity and with repetition.

These include skills such as communication with a patient, basic airway management, as well as physical examination skills. First the clinical skills are demonstrated and taught in the clinical skills laboratory on the second floor of the medical school. Physical examination techniques are demonstrated on simulated patients and on plastic models and mannequins. Procedural skills like intravenous cannulation are demonstrated on models and communication skills are demonstrated using simulated patients, i.e. people who have been trained to act like patients and are therefore able to give the relevant responses to questions.

In the first three years of the current MBCHB degree, the students demonstrate an integration of the theory and the practice of a skill. An example from a module on the respiratory system, the students will learn communication skills related to the respiratory system, examination skills related to respiratory system and procedural skills such as how to nebulize an asthmatic patient. The other aspect of the UKZN MBCHB degree is that repetition of some skills occurs within the three years for example basic resuscitation skills and therefore allows the student to gradually develop

their expertise in clinical skills. These clinical and procedural skills are considered vital and are assessed through logbook examinations as well as objective structured clinical examinations during the course of the first three years of the MBCHB program. Once a student has entered the fourth year of study, these basic skills are considered to be part of their core knowledge (Matthews, 2012).

1.6 Understanding clinical skills education

A framework which is being used to understand and explain the teaching and assessment of clinical skills to enable competent practice is the one proposed by George Miller (Miller, 1990). The framework has been adapted by Mehay and Burns (2009) into a prism constituting four levels to assess competence. The first two levels of the prism is strongly embedded in cognition and the last two in behavior. While the adapted model allows for the monitoring of knowledge, skills and or professional behaviour, the application of the model to this thesis is primarily focussed on the skills domain. At the base of the prism, (refer to figure 1 below), the student has to demonstrate the necessary knowledge in relation to a skill. The second level requires the student to demonstrate their acquisition of knowledge of procedures and skills, often in simulated and skills laboratory settings. This aspect generally correlates to basic training in premedical skills laboratories where theoretical and practical skills are demonstrated and assessed. At the third level, a student should demonstrate an ability to perform a procedure independently. This level of competence would typically be expected and monitored in the supervised clinical setting. The ultimate aim of the training, as indicated at the 4th level, is to develop and enable learners to use their knowledge and skills appropriately for independent action and practice. This is also the aim of the clinical training component at the NRMSM i.e. to ensure that students as health care professionals can eventually demonstrate (in doing) an ability to safely practice as independent health care practitioners. Clinical experience and feedback in supervised settings will greatly assist students to acquire, develop and improve their ultimate clinical practice (Miller, 1990). This study has not included a formal assessment of the students' clinical skills ability but focus on students ' perceived competence in the clinical skills arena.

Figure 1: Miller's Prism of Clinical Competence (adapted from Miller's (1990) pyramid) (Mehay & Burns, 2009)



Based on work by Miller GE, The Assessment of Clinical Skills/Competence/Performance; Acad. Med. 1990; 65(9); 63-67 Adapted by Drs. R. Mehay & R. Burns, UK (Jan 2009)

This study also draws on the educational principle of constructive alignment (Biggs, 1999), and its application to curriculum in Higher Education institutions. In essence the theory relates to the necessity for modular assessment activities to be clearly aligned to the expected learning outcomes; all the planned teaching and learning activities of a course reflect the intentions of the course or qualification. In a well-structured system, students should not only be informed of how these will improve their knowledge and competence but they should also perceive the relevance of activities and placements in the advancement of their knowledge, practice and experience assessment tasks as relevant in ensuring the attainment of the stipulated outcomes (Biggs, 1999).

The premise of the SACMC program thus rests on the notion of preparing students through a Cuban based curriculum for practice in South African primary health care settings. Students who complete the lion's share of their training in Cuba return to SA to complete their training and enter into internship. It is therefore reasonable to attempt to understand what prior learning and experience, especially in relation to clinical skills, one can assume for this group of students when they enter the MBChB programme at the NRMSM at this advanced stage of the curriculum.

1.7 Problem statement

The UKZN has been involved with the Cuban exchange program since its inception a decade ago. The SACMC students have been found to have considerable difficulty in passing their clinical examinations in the 5th year of medical study at the local institution. Some of the students need to repeat a number of their clinical blocks and others have had to repeat the whole year (Ngidi, 2013).

In 2012, the NRMSM instituted a formal supplementary academic support program for the SACMC students. However no published research has been done locally at UKZN to explore and understand the nature of the clinical difficulties that the SACMC students face and whether offering academic support is adequate to ensure their success in the final year at the NRMSM. It is unknown whether the collaboration students are being adequately prepared to practice medicine in South Africa or not. Local academics teaching these students in the medical school do not know much about or understand what the students' clinical experience has been in Cuba, or what curriculum content has been taught to the students in Cuba compared to what local students are studying and how prepared clinically these students are to embark on their final year of training in South Africa.

1.8 Aims and Benefits of the Study

This study was conducted to determine what clinical skills training the students received while in the Cuban setting and how the content and clinical practice during training compared in the different settings. The study aimed to determine the extent to which students' prior clinical experiences and skills training facilitated their perceived preparedness in the clinical arena. If students are not adequately exposed to procedures which are deemed essential in this context, then the identification of such will help clinical staff to tailor the support which is offered to them. This will help them to succeed in qualifying as doctors who are on a par with local students and ultimately ensure their long term success as medical professionals in South Africa. This study will inform future support and stimulate subsequent research on the success of this exchange

programme. Research in this arena would benefit the SACMC students, lecturers, our institution and patients in this region.

1.9 Research questions

1. What curricular approach and clinical skills content were the SACMC students exposed to during their Cuban based training in medicine? (Student perceptions of curricular approach and clinical skills content)

2. What clinical skills training did the students receive in the Cuban setting and how does the training compare to that offered at the UKZN?

3. To what extent has students' prior clinical experiences and skills training in Cuba facilitated their clinical preparedness in the local clinical setting?

1.10 Interpretation of competence, clinical preparedness and performance

Given the fact that the Cuban trained students join the UKZN curriculum and are expected to participate from the middle of their 4th year without having to conduct a formal assessment, this study was based on the understanding that all students entering the 4th year would have attained the prerequisite knowledge and clinical skills which are taught and assessed in the preceding 3 years. All students who trained at the UKZN would have demonstrated mastery of knowledge and skills components in each semester of their academic year of their studies.

Deliberations at exam board meetings have highlighted the difficulty of Cuban trained students especially in passing the clinical components of the 5th year assessments. The reason for this has been relatively unknown and this study is an attempt to understand and possibly explain the educational phenomenon.

The words competence, performance and clinical preparedness have been used in an inconsistent and interchangeable manner in literature. For example the word clinical preparedness is used in several articles in the literature using preparedness and competence interchangeably, i.e. Blumenthal et al 2001, Weismann et al. 2005, Buss et al. 1998 and Grad et al 2001.

Some authors have distinguished between the assessment of performance and competence (Epstein and Hundert 2002; Ruedy 2007), however, Dreyfus and Dreyfus (1980) have described competence as simply a point on a spectrum of improving performance. Their spectrum identified the practitioners' skills that range from novice to advanced beginner to competence to proficiency and then finally expertise. For Epstein and Hundert (2002: 227), competence refers to "the habitual and judicious use of communication, knowledge, technical skills, clinical reasoning, emotion, values and reflection in daily practice for the benefit of the individual and community being served." Their definition is fairly comprehensive and competence is reinforced as being "developmental, impermanent and context –dependent" (2002:227). Ten Cate et al (2010) refer to performance of an individual as an interplay with the practice setting in which the exposure occurs in which s/he has to use a combination of attitudes, skills and knowledge for optimum performance.

The word prepare according to the Oxford English dictionary (1989), means to make (something) ready for use or consideration. This is used in the context of the medical curriculum which is designed to prepare a graduate for practice. It is assumed that the intention of the Cuban medical training programme is also to prepare a student to complete the last 18 months of clinical training in South Africa prior to graduation to allow them to function as a qualified medical practitioner. This study is exploring whether these returning students perceive themselves as prepared and competent in performing clinical skills upon entry to this university.

Student perceptions can serve as a useful indicator of the quality of their educational experiences (Blumenthal et al., 2002:1034). Yusuf and colleagues warn that student perceptions about their clinical competence should be regarded as a limiting factor since self-perceived competence sometimes falls short of expected competence (Yusuf et al, 2010). It is therefore acknowledged that self-evaluation is a complex process which cannot be perceived as an objective process (Barnsley et al (2004).

Thus, for the purpose of this study the words competence, performance and preparedness all pertain to the acquisition of knowledge and ability to perform clinical skills at the level of a medical student entering the 4th year of medicine at UKZN.

1.11 Limitations

The data is based on the perceptions of the students and not on their actual competence as measured with an objective assessment instrument. The questionnaires were administered to the students after a week-long exposure to an orientation- intervention program which included an overview to clinical skills from the UKZN curriculum perspective. It is therefore possible that students' awareness of the skills might have impacted on their confidence and perception of performance. The results from this study are not generalizable to other institutions. The study was based on a relatively small, but purposive sample in the context of UKZN. Other medical educators are advised to compare their programmes and settings to ours to assess how applicable the findings would be to their settings.

1.12 Conclusion

This chapter served to introduce the study and offered a brief rationale for the significance of the educational study involving the SACMC students. This introduction provided an overview of the various components of the study. The context is developed with the background information and the rationale for the study, aims and benefits as well as the key research questions are detailed here. This dissertation has been organised into six main chapters and in the paragraphs below is an overview of what the other chapters include:

Chapter Two details a literature review which is organised into five broad categories which include information relevant to the Cuban health care environment and international care, the history of the South African Cuban collaboration program in terms of meetings and agreements, the curriculum in Cuba and the curriculum in SA and the SACMC students and the SA health care environment. Collectively all this information provides the context from which this study was conceptualised.

Chapter Three explains the conceptual framework and describes all the theories that have been used to define and explain various phenomena in this study. The framework includes experiential learning theory, prior knowledge, transfer of learning theories, alignment theory and Miller's framework of clinical competence. Chapter Four includes the research methodology of the study and describes in detail the methods that have been used for the study. An explanation of data collection, sampling, data analysis procedures and limitations of the study are specified.

Chapter Five: This chapter discusses the data findings and is dedicated to the presentation and analysis of the qualitative and quantitative data.

Chapter Six: The final chapter of this dissertation is a discussion of the findings and includes recommendations and draws conclusions from this study as they pertained to the results of the research. Attention was given to addressing the implications of this research for relevant audiences, as well as providing suggestions for future research on the topic of interest in this study.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This literature review provides a background to the study and highlights relevant issues pertaining to the study. The review is organised around five broad categories. This chapter includes information relevant to:

- The Cuban health care environment and international health care
- The SACMC program in terms of meetings and agreements
- The Cuban curriculum
- The UKZN curriculum , philosophy, clinical skills teaching and learning outcomes
- The SACMC students and the South African health care environment.

Collectively this information provides the scope of the study, highlights the relevant literature published in this area and illuminates areas of relative paucity and lack of published literature regarding the SACMC programme.

2.2 Cuban health care environment and International health care

Cuba as a country has been involved in the international health care arena for the last 4 decades (Blunden, 2008). Their contribution has been to provide Cuban trained doctors to work on the African continent. Countries include South Africa, Eritrea, Uganda, Ghana, and Guinea Bissau (Blunden, 2008). In addition to this, Cuban humanitarian aid has extended to Africa and Latin America and involved more than 15 000 Cuban physicians (Blunden, 2008).

Cuba's medical assistance and involvement with various countries has impacted on the health policy in the various regions and Cuba's collaboration also includes the training of doctors from a region's own population to deal with local health care crises. In that regard the Cuban government began collaborating with various countries to establish a full medical education training programme in Cuba with the condition that trained participants return to their countries of origin to work in areas of greatest needs (De Vos & Bonet, 2004).

The formation of the Latin American School of Medicine (ELAM) was founded in Havana in 1998 and has been used for the purpose of training of African and international students (Blunden, 2008). Other universities in Cuba that are involved with the training of international medical students include Villa Clara, Cienfuegos and Sancti Spiritus (Joint Academic Meeting, 2013).

On the 11th of May 1994 Cuba and South Africa established full diplomatic relations. It included the posting of an ambassador to Cuba. President Mandela had a vision to foster trade, economic and cultural collaboration with Cuba that would be beneficial to both countries (Department of foreign affairs, 2013). The South African government therefore established a physician training agreement with Cuba because the humanitarian and solidarity principles promoted in Cuban medical education were aligned to South Africa's new post-apartheid constitution (Quintana et al, 2012). South African provinces recruited black and disadvantaged high school graduates for medical training in Cuba In 1996, the first group of 92 SACMC students started the programme in Cuba (Asante et al, 2012).

Health has been a priority in Cuba and this is evidenced in good quality services being offered at no charge at the point of delivery to communities. There are also high utilization rates of medical services (De Vos et al, 2005). Cuba unlike most developing countries like South Africa is in a good position to offer quality and accessible health care to all of its citizens. The approach to health care in Cuba changed after the 1959 revolution and is based on a model of preventative medicine rather than curative medicine (Blunden, 2008). In South Africa the privatization of medical care and medical-aid schemes affects health care delivery and access allowing more affluent citizens greater access and better quality health care. In Cuba, however, health services remain free to its citizens at the various points of delivery and the government remains the main regulator of health care (De Vos et al, 2005).

The Cuban health care system includes regionalized hospital services and professional training. There are very progressive public health initiatives and epidemiologic

surveillance mechanisms. The Cuban population enjoy universal access to health services without substantial barriers related to race and social class (Waitzkin, 1997). Cuba's accomplishments in family medicine include several developments which are highly important to primary health care. These innovations involve low-technology systems such as family medicine based in neighbourhoods as the focus of primary care. Family medicine physicians live in the communities that they serve, often within the same building that has their private consultation rooms. Family medicine physicians provide primary care services for patients who live in the neighbourhood of the practice. Every family physician sees patients in their area at least twice a year. The physician does extensive record keeping of the medical conditions, treatment and preventive measures for all patients in their neighbourhood (Waitzkin, 1997).

Health education in Cuba begins in the classroom and continues throughout life. Cubans have been described as the most "medically-literate" population worldwide (Briggs 2011:1041). Health professionals and journalists have showed that the level of reception of health knowledge is a key characteristic of the Cuban general population. Culturally South Africans and Cubans are dissimilar, while Cubans read extensively and tend to be demanding in the arena of health issues, most of South Africa's disadvantaged population display a lack of literacy. In South Africa, health education is not a priority and poor access to resources and high unemployment remain key issues.

2.3 The SACMC program in terms of meetings and agreements

In October 2012, the third joint, inter- university academic meeting was held in Cuba at the University of Medical Sciences of Havana. All 8 South African universities were represented there as well as representatives of the Health Professional Council of South Africa.

Two Inter-university workshops were conducted in Havana and all these various stakeholders, South African and Cuban, recorded their agreement of the following:

• The collaboration program for the training of SA doctors in Cuba is a symbol of the strong relationship between the governments and peoples of Cuba and South Africa.

- The medical training program plays an important role in helping South Africa deal with its human resource requirements in health and there will be an increase in the enrolment in the coming years.
- The objectives and contents of the training in both countries have more aspects in common than differences.
- There are variations in training approaches, but they can be solved by implementing identified strategies that would bring these aspects closer.
- It is important to further develop the coordination and implementation of the program in South Africa and Cuba.

(Joint Academic Meeting, 2013).

In his address at the joint academic meeting, Dr Kaya Mfenyana¹, addressed the training received in Cuba and the expectations required to practice medicine in SA. He said that curative medicine is prevalent in SA and the services prioritised are internal medicine, surgery, obstetrics and gynaecology, paediatrics, family medicine and psychiatry. He acknowledged that this marked the main difference from the Cuban medical training programme, which prioritises primary health care and preventative medicine. Of note in this context is the address of Dr Banos², where he referred to differences in skills development and clinical practice between South Africa and Cuba, clarifying that a graduate from Cuban universities is a basic general practitioner. He explained further that students from various nationalities studied at Cuban universities and it was not feasible to establish a curriculum for each nationality (Joint Academic Meeting, 2013).

2.4 Cuban Curriculum

This is an overview of the literature review of the curriculum for the Cuban medical training collaboration program that includes South Africans as well as students from all over the world. Most students who are successful as applicants on the SACMC programme are predominantly from poor, disadvantaged and rural backgrounds. They

¹ The Dean of the medical faculty of Walter Sisulu University, Eastern Cape

² The rector of the University Of Medical Sciences Of Cienfuegos

have been unable to afford tertiary education and are members of indigenous communities. The ages of the students usually range between the ages of 18 and 26 years. The students need to be in good health and have no criminal past. Students are also selected based on their willingness, to practise medicine in underserved communities within their countries of origin (Huish, 2008).

Students who are accepted on the SACMC program undergo an initial pre-medical module, which includes basic science courses like chemistry, biology, math, physics as well as a course in communicating in the Spanish language. The medical program starts every September and is offered over 12 semesters. Students initially study at the ELAM campus for the first two years before completing their studies at one of Cuba's twenty-one other medical schools either in Havana or other cities. In the first two years of medicine, basic sciences are taught and in the remaining years, clinical subjects are taught. This commences in the fifth semester of the programme where students begin to clerk patients on the hospital wards where they have been assigned (Huish, 2008).

The cornerstone of the Cuban curriculum is the two volume set by Alvarez Sintes, *'Temas deMedicina General Integral' (Themes in General Integrated Medicine)*. The emphasis of the Cuban curriculum is on the social and environmental determinants of health, as well as epidemiology. The Cuban medical training model emphasizes primary healthcare and community medicine (Huish, 2008).

2.5 The UKZN curriculum: Philosophy, clinical skills teaching and learning outcomes

There is a move globally towards competency-based curricula and the UKZN MBChB programme is directed towards meeting the Core Competencies outlined by the HPCSA which has adopted the Canmed competencies of: healthcare practitioner, scholar, professional, health advocate, leader/manager, collaborator and communicator. The CanMEDS Framework is based on empirical research done by the Royal College of Canada Fellows and volunteers and was approved by the Royal College Governing Council in 1996 (Royal College of Canada ,2013).

Outcomes-based education is a performance-based approach to medical education. The emphasis is on the type of doctor that will be produced and the learning outcomes are clearly indicated to ensure that educational outcomes are understood and thereby achievedThe educational outcomes therefore determine to a greater extent the curriculum content, the assessment strategies and provide a means for evaluation of the curriculum (Harden, Sowden and Dunn, 1984).

The current MBCHB programme at UKZN is meeting a national priority in increasing the number of people trained as doctors, just as the intention behind the Cuban collaboration program. It serves to address the shortage of medically qualified personnel and therefore medical students are trained in a way that meets the requirements of the South African medical context, with attention being given to graduate competencies which are specific to local contexts, for example an emphasis on learning about common health-related conditions in KwaZulu-Natal such as infectious diseases like Tuberculosis and AIDS or the Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome.

The MBChB programme intention is to train medical practitioners to fulfil the requirements of the HPCSA and ultimately be equipped with the skills required to function in primary care clinics, community centres, and rural, district, regional, tertiary hospitals, private practice, private hospitals and academic institutions (UKZN Curriculum, 2012).

The main educational philosophy underlining the UKZN MBCHB programme is based on a principle of self-directed experiential learning with a combination of problem based learning, didactic teaching, self-directed learning and spirally based learning with repetition of learning experiences and content (Curriculum documents UKZN, 2012). The emphasis is on teaching and learning integration within the entire MBChB curriculum with respect to content and processes.

Six educational strategies have been identified in medical school curricula. The abbreviation SPICES depicts each strategy each of which can be represented as a spectrum or continuum. These include the following:

- S- student-centered/teacher-centered,
- P-problem-based/information-gathering
- I- integrated/discipline-based,
- C-community-based/hospital-based
- E- elective/uniform

• S-systematic/apprenticeship-based

(Harden, Sowden and Dunn, 1984).

Problem based learning, is one of the educational strategies above deemed important by Harden, Sowden and Dunn, (1984), and was adopted by UKZN in 2001. It was implemented as a 5 year integrated PBL curriculum and replaced a traditional 6 year lecture based traditional didactic curriculum. This integrated PBL curriculum is characterised by being student-centred and patient-oriented (Van Wyk & Madiba, 2006).

In the MBChB programme for the first three years, the teaching of clinical skills forms part of the core of each module. The teaching of the theory which informs clinical skills is presented in a lecture based setting first, so that students have the theoretical knowledge and understand the reasons why a procedure or skill is being taught to them. Students thereafter perform the practical component, where the skill is demonstrated or performed in the clinical skills laboratory. Students are taught in a safe, simulated environment where they are able to see the skill demonstrated and then practice the skill either individually or in groups.

Teaching in the clinical skills laboratory is first performed on full scale mannequins and human patients in the form of simulated patients. Simulation is an educational technique that facilitates learning by reproducing a clinical experience or a clinical event (Maran et al, 2003). Simulated learning environments may vary from low fidelity to high fidelity models. Fidelity is the extent to which the appearance and behaviour of the simulator / simulation resembles the real situation (Farmer, 1999). The level of fidelity required depends on the type of task and stage of training and influences skills transfer. Simulated patients are mainly used at the NRMSM for the teaching of communication, interpersonal skills, and clinical examination skills. The use of full scale mannequins and part or partial task trainers versus real patients depends on the type of clinical skill being taught, the complexity of the skill and the availability of the models or real simulated patients.

Five basic categories of clinical skills are being taught in each of the academic years as indicated in table 1. The motivations for the competencies are also included.

Table 1: Clinical Skills Categories: Year one to three

1. Communication skills	Generally taught from first year. Essential because		
	leaners need to become competent at taking a		
	patient's history.		
2. Resuscitation skills	Generally taught from first year to third year.		
	Initially starts with basic emergency skills and		
	then more advanced skills are taught. Essential		
	because leaners need to become competent in		
	basic and advanced resuscitation.		
3. Examination Skills	Generally taught from second year. These are		
	basic examinations skills for each system that the		
	students are exposed to doing them with normal		
	simulated patients. It allows the students to		
	become familiar in being able to firstly examine a		
	patient with normal systems and then allows them		
	to start noticing abnormalities in the third year		
	when they are exposed to real patients. Essential		
	because leaners need to become competent at		
	examining a patient.		
4. Procedural skills (general,	Generally taught from second year. Essential		
airway, obstetrics and	because leaners need to become competent at		
gynaecology and specimen	these basic procedural skills that students must be		
collection)	able to understand and demonstrate.		
5. Radiological examination	Generally taught from second year. Essential for		
	students to develop an approach for viewing		
	radiographs and the ability to detect minor		
	abnormalities during the second and third years.		

The achievement of learning outcomes for medical education should be based on formative, informative and transformative learning and on interdependence and integration within medical education, (Frenk et al, 2010), and this is achieved at NRMSM by revisiting of topics in a spiral curriculum and a combination of problem based learning and didactic teaching.

The learning outcomes for the current UKZN MBChB programme at the time of the study are based on research from literature on medical education and teaching and learning which are done to ensure that there is alignment between the curriculum and the learning outcomes or goals (UKZN Curriculum, 2012).

2.6 The SACMC students and the South African health care environment.

There are relatively few articles on the challenges that students face on their return to South African medical schools. In a report by Reed and Torres (2008) after speaking to students of the SACMC programme who were working in rural hospitals reported that Cuban-trained graduates faced racism and prejudice at some South African medical schools when they returned home. The students also had to learn additional country – specific skills and medical English to cope on their return to South Africa (Reed 2008: 51). In an interview with a former SACMC student, Dr Sibandle reported the need to "reintegrate into the South African health system, and get to know the diseases we would face daily...In Cuba, it was a different setting; the AIDS patients we saw there looked normal" (Reed 2008: 51).

The population of South Africa is approximately 51 million (Census SA, 2011). The majority of the population are dependent on the public sector for their health care. Since the end of apartheid in 1994, the government had embarked on a complete restructuring of the health care system which has been underpinned by important legislation. This has led to some successful legislation such as:

- free primary health care for all
- an essential drugs programme
- allowing women a choice on termination of pregnancy
- anti-tobacco legislation (Harrison, 2009).

However there have been some significant failures of legislation not successfully implemented over the last decade which include the following:

- limited effort to curtail HIV/AIDS
- emergence of MDR TB and XDR TB
- inadequate attention to the epidemic of alcohol abuse
- persistently skewed allocation of resources between the public and private sectors (Harrison, 2009).

2.7 Conclusion

This chapter detailed a literature review which was organised into five broad categories which included information relevant to the Cuban health care environment and international care, the history of the South African Cuban collaboration program in terms of meetings and agreements, the curriculum in Cuba and the SACMC students and the SA health care environment. It highlighted the differences between the South African and Cuban health care environments, curricular needs and differences of medical students training in Cuba with the ultimate aim of actually practicing medicine in South Africa. Collectively this information provided the context for this study. The next chapter explains the conceptual framework and describes a selection of theories that have been used to define and explain various phenomena in this study.

CHAPTER THREE: THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

3.1 Introduction

The previous chapter detailed a literature review of five broad categories and provided the context for the study. It also highlighted differences between the SA and Cuban health care environments, curricular differences and differing health care needs. In this chapter I will draw on theories which may explain the phenomenon being studied. The conceptual framework will be discussed in relation to each of the research questions namely:

- 1. What curricular approach and clinical skills content were the SACMC students exposed to during their Cuban based training in medicine? (student perceptions of curricular approach and clinical skills content)
- 2. What clinical skills training did the students receive in the Cuban setting and how does the training compare to that offered at the UKZN?
 - 3. To what extent has students' prior clinical experiences and skills training in Cuba facilitated their clinical preparedness in the local clinical setting?

The conceptual framework which underpins this study contains a complex system of beliefs, concepts, assumptions, expectations, and theories that support and informed this research. (Miles & Huberman, 1994). The conceptual framework serves as a context of meaning and facilitates an interpretation of the data and findings. The framework which informed the exploration of the research questions is underpinned by the following theories:

Table 2: A summary	y of the o	conceptual	frameworks	of the study
		<u> </u>		

Research Question	Conceptual framework
1. What curricular approach and clinical skills	Kolb Experiential learning
content were the SACMC students exposed	(Kolb, 1984). Prior knowledge
to during their Cuban based training in	(Kujawa and Huske, 1995) and
medicine? (student perceptions of curricular	Biggs' (1999) alignment theory
approach and clinical skills content)	

	2. What clinical skills training did the students	Miller's clinical competence
	receive in the Cuban setting and how does	Theory (1990) and experiential
	the training compare to that offered at the	learning
	UKZN?	
3.	To what extent has students' prior clinical	Biggs' alignment theories and
	experiences and skills training in Cuba facilitated	Transfer theories (Perkins and
	their clinical preparedness in the local clinical	Salomon, 1992)
	setting??	

The figure below provides an overview of the different phases of the SACMC students' progress after completion of secondary training to re-integration in their clinical 4th year at the NRMSM.

Figure 2: Conceptual frameworks underpinning the study



3.2 Impact of Prior knowledge on learning

Prior knowledge is the knowledge, skills or ability that students bring to the learning environment prior to teaching (Jonassen & Grabowski, 1993). This form of knowledge acts as a lens through which the student views, assimilates or acquires new information.
Prior knowledge considers who students are, based on what they have learned in daily life and by drawing on their academic experiences.

Students' learning is believed to be more effective when prior knowledge of a content area and concepts in that field have particular meaning to them in terms of background or culture. Teachers' ability to link new information to students' prior knowledge aids in activating curiosity and interest which results in a more enriching and purposeful experience (Kujawa & Huske, 1995).

In this study prior knowledge is believed to be important because the Cuban collaboration students enter the SACMC programme having completed their secondary schooling experience at a local school (Refer to Phase A on Figure 2) where the medium of instruction was either a local indigenous language or English. This phase is then followed by entry into tertiary education (Phase B; Figure 2) where the learning experience in Cuba occurs though the medium of Spanish. It is anticipated the prior knowledge before entering the SACMCP and the linkages created with new information on the Cuban curriculum will be critical for the enhancement of the students' interest, curiosity and further learning. The importance of prior knowledge in the learning contexts has been well described by Ausbel, 1978 (cited in Ausbel et al, 1978: Preface) who asserted that... "If I had to reduce all of educational psychology to just one principle, I would say this: the most important single factor influencing learning is what the learner already knows. Ascertain this and teach him accordingly." Research in the field of neurobiology has advanced our understanding for learning and the possible implication for teaching. In this regard Gravet & Geyser (2004:37) assert that prior knowledge as related to one's life experience is likely to be concrete. Teachers should thus start with the concrete experience and then develop concepts and principles from specific examples during teaching. With regard to Phase C on figure 2, the ultimate goal of the SACMC programme is the doctor serving in the rural areas competently and being able to transfer his/her knowledge and skills from the urban to the rural context.

3.3 Experiential Learning

Kolb's (1984) "Experiential learning theory" is a well-known theory in education. Kolb defines experiential learning as *"the process whereby knowledge is created through the*

transformation of experience". Knowledge results from the combination of grasping and transforming experience" (Kolb, 1984: 41). As illustrated in figure 3 below:

Figure 3: Experiential Learning Cycle (Kolb, 1984:41)



The process is cyclical where the experience of a student (1), is followed by a time and opportunity for reflection (2). The student is then engaged to contemplate, conceptualise and draw conclusions, (3) about his/her experiences and observations which should ultimately lead to future application and new knowledge (4)

Experiential learning theory draws on the work of many distinguished academics like John Dewey, Jean Piaget, Carl Jung and many others.

The experiential learning theory is built on the following six propositions (Kolb 2005:194);

- 1. Learning is a process of creating knowledge
- 2. Learning involves re-learning

- 3. Learning requires the resolution of conflicts
- 4. The learning process requires adaptation to the world
- 5. Learning results from interactions between a person and the environment
- 6. All experiences offer a source of learning and development.

In a model that had been developed from research on work-based learning, Boud and colleagues identified three stages of reflection associated with experiential learning activities (Boud, Keogh and Walker, 1985; Boud and Walker, 1991):

- Preparation for the event where the focus is on the learner and the learning context and equipping the student with the skills and strategies for reflection in action. It involves preparing the student for what the event has to offer.
- Reflection during the event with a focus on noticing and intervening and helping the student to engage with the learning experience to notice and intervene to promote his/her own learning.
- Subsequent reflection after the event (Bould & Walker, 1991).

The value of this model lies in its ability to help students process their experiences and consciously extract learning outcomes from these experiences.

3.4 Transfer of learning theories

Transfer in education and learning theory is central to formal education as it aspires for the transference of knowledge. As a basic premise of education transfer would have occurred if a person can display learning which occurred in one setting at a later stage. In medical programmes transfer usually requires that students demonstrate understanding and an ability to perform clinical skills.

Transfer of learning can be defined as the effective application by students of the knowledge and skills gained as a result of attending an educational program. This transferring of learning occurs when learning in one context or with one set of materials impacts on performance in another context or with other related materials. Transfer of learning occurs whenever prior learned knowledge and skills affect the way in which new knowledge and skills are learned and performed (Cormier & Hagman, 1987). The

transfer of learning (transfer of training) is a key concept in adult theories of learning, because most education and training instruction aspires to transfer this knowledge to "real world" situations. The context of learning usually differs somewhat from the actual context of application; thus the end goals of education and training are not achieved unless this transfer takes place (Cormier & Hagman, 1987).

Evidence however suggests that the greatly desired and hoped for transfer from learning experiences does not always occur (Perkins & Salomon, 1992). Therefore, the requirements and optimal conditions for transfer of knowledge are critical to successful learning in medical education.

Learning transfer occurs when learning in one context improves or diminishes a related performance in another context. Transfer is defined as near transfer i.e. when context and performances are closely related. Transfer under conditions where contexts and performances are quite different would typically be described as far transfer (Perkins & Salomon, 1992). Transfer can also be categorised as positive which occurs when learning in one context improves the learners' performance in a different context or negative when learning in one context impacts negatively on the learners' performance in another context.

The SACMC students are required to learn medicine in Cuba and practice medicine in South Africa. The assessments and examinations that these students undergo in South Africa have indicated that the acquisition and transfer by the students of their clinical skills knowledge and proficiency has not occurred optimally.

3.5 Miller's Prism of Clinical Competence

Finally the competence of the students at performing clinical skills such as the taking of a relevant history from a patient and being able to examine a patient can be illustrated in the light of Miller's (1990) pyramid of competence for the medical sector. This was adapted to a prism of clinical competence by Mehay and Burns (2009). Assessment within the MBChB program is complex and the student is expected to demonstrate differing types of learning. In the first three years, the students are expected to learn clinical skills and be able to demonstrate their knowledge. The ability to be competent at performing clinical skills is vital to the success of the students at UKZN and it is critical to success as a clinician in their chosen long term careers. Miller's prism differentiates between competences by referring to what students can do under perfect conditions while performance, however, indicates how people actually behave in real life situations.

This model, as shown in Figure 1, starts with the assessment of cognition, dealing with knowledge, knows (theoretical knowledge), then knows how (competence), and followed with the assessment of competence under controlled conditions (shows how) and then ends with an assessment of competence in practice or the assessment of performance (does).

Figure 1: Miller's Prism of Clinical Competence (adapted from Miller's (1990) pyramid) (Mehay&Burns,2009)



Based on work by Miller GE, The Assessment of Clinical Skills/Competence/Performance; Acad. Med. 1990; 65(9); 63-67 Adapted by Drs. R. Mehay & R. Burns, UK (Jan 2009)

Some of the required learning outcomes of the clinical skills course component of the MBCHB curriculum at the end of the current third year of medicine are the achievement of a Miller's, knows how and shows how level of competency. This is required to enter the clinical years of medicine, years four, five and six.

3.6 Biggs' (1999) Alignment Theory

Teaching and learning take place in a system embracing classroom, department and institutional levels. If the various components such as the curriculum, the teaching and the assessment tasks are not well integrated and tuned to support learning then the system does not provide the optimal conditions for successful learning.

Constructive alignment is an approach to curriculum design that optimises the conditions for quality learning. In order to learn successfully a learner must construct meaning through the learning activities. Alignment refers to what the teacher or institution of learning does to set up an environment of learning that supports the learning activities. This then facilitates the achievement of the desired learning outcomes. The key is that the components in the teaching system, especially the teaching methods used and the assessment tasks, should be aligned to the learning activities to achieve the desired outcomes as illustrated in figure 4, (Biggs, 1999).

Figure 4. Aligning learning outcomes, learning and teaching activities and the assessment. Adapted from Biggs (1999:27).



3.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, various conceptual theories were presented which informed this study. These include experiential learning theory, prior knowledge, transfer theory, Biggs' constructional alignment theory, and Miller's framework of clinical competence. The prior knowledge of the medical students gained from their South African rural life experiences as well as their learning experiences in rural schools in South Africa play a pivotal role in the prior knowledge that they take with them to Cuba. These students then start their medical training in Cuba with exposure to the Cuban lifestyle, culture, language and the medical context of their medical universities, hospitals as well as the Cuban communities. They have been surrounded and submerged in the Cuban lifestyle, culture and language and have learnt medicine in this environment.

After having these experiences for 5 years in this Cuban environment within the medical context, they then return to their home country, where a different medical context, language, culture and different expectations of learning outcomes from these experiences awaits them. The students return to South Africa and use their prior knowledge, their experiential learning in Cuba, and basically translate it or transfer it into a new environment, lifestyle, culture and language as well as a different context and system of practicing medicine.

This may be part of the context and culture of learning which students find problematic and relates to transfer of learning theory. It is believed that the prior knowledge and experiential learning of the students firstly during their secondary school training in rural South Africa and then in medical universities and hospitals in Cuba would explain that some learning has not transferred adequately.

The next chapter describes the research methodology of the study. An explanation of data collection, sampling, data analysis procedures as well as limitations are presented.

CHAPTER FOUR: METHODOLOGY

4.1 Introduction

This chapter provides details of the research methods and procedures utilised for the study. The data collection, sampling and analysis are explained and the limitations of the study are specified. This study was conducted at the Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine in the second semester of 2013. A mixed- methodology strategy was used to collect data about the SACMC collaboration program students' prior clinical skills training experiences and their perceptions of their clinical competence upon reintegration into the South African medical landscape.

4.2 Research Design

The study was conducted using a qualitative research approach. This is a case study with the purpose of which is to understand the experience from the participant's viewpoint. An inductive phenomenological approach was chosen over the traditional positivist methodology as the study does not intend to prove or disprove any hypothesis but seeks to explore perceptions of students' reality.

This methodology of research involves the collection, organization and interpretation of data derived from an exploration into meaning of social phenomena (Malterud 2001). The overall goal of this type of research is to develop concepts that might help us to understand social phenomena. This is accomplished by "giving emphasis to the meanings, experiences and perceptions of participants" (Ringsted et al 2011: 699).

The ultimate aim of using a qualitative approach was to understand the diverse perspectives and experiences of the students in their natural context. The theoretical perspective often associated with qualitative research is phenomenology. Phenomenology is the "perception of the meaning of an event, as opposed to the event as it exists external to the person. (Leedy, Omrod 2005: 139) In phenomenological

studies we try to answer the question "what is it like to experience such and such" (Leedy, Omrod 2005: 139). During the data collection process, "the researcher suspends any preconceived notions or personal experiences that may unduly influence what the researcher "hears" the participants saying" (Leedy, Omrod 2005: 139). Following the phenomenological approach researchers seek to understand meaning in events and in human interactions.

Qualitative research often typically serves the purpose of revealing the true nature of certain situations, relationships, systems or processes. The goal of the research is to gain insight and explore the complexity inherent in the phenomenon. Qualitative data analysis was selected for its inductive approach which offers, the unfolding of themes and interconnected ideas. "The conceptual framework is then interpreted by the researcher with reference to the literature on a topic in an attempt to explain with a theory the phenomenon being studied" (Suter, 2005).

4.3 Study Area/Setting

The Nelson Mandela medical school campus was originally a racially segregated part of the University of Natal. It was one of the few tertiary institutions legally allowed to provide education to black people during apartheid. It was granted Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela's name on its 50th anniversary in the year 2000. The Nelson R. Mandela School of medicine has been involved with the SACMC program from its onset. Students have been coming to the university for over a decade. Students currently at the University of KwaZulu-Natal, Nelson Mandela School of Medicine who are part of the 2013 returning cohort of the South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration programme were interviewed.

4.4 Study Sample

Purposive sampling was used which means that a sample is purposely selected for its potential to yield insight into the phenomenon. The participants of the study are selected to serve a specific purpose, i.e. to gather data from information-rich sources. Purposive sampling gathers information that would uncover conceptual relationships (Suter, 2005). In this study the purposive sampling is to gather data rich enough to develop a theory regarding the South African-Cuba collaboration programme. The sample was the current South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration programme students

who had just returned to South Africa and were assigned to complete their studies at UKZN. These medical students entered the programme after having completed their first 4-5 years in Cuba (2013 cohort). This includes a total of 11 students.

This qualitative phenomenological study used semi structured interviews and questionnaires to gather data to answer the critical questions. All students (N=11) who entered the 4th year of the South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration programme were invited to participate. The study sample included all the eleven South-African students who had studied in Cuba and who had enrolled for 4th year of study at the UKZN. This group was purposively sampled because they had recently returned to KwaZulu-Natal after having completed years 1-5 at a Cuban medical school. This sampling strategy was used because the sample was selected for its potential to yield the greatest insight into the clinical skills experience and perceptions of the cohort of students under study. All 11 students agreed to participate and signed an informed consent form.

4.5 Piloted Study

Two separate questionnaires were used in the study and were piloted to a random selection of 10 students from the 4th year medical students in 2013. This was done to ascertain whether the questionnaires were clear and coherent and easy to understand by a student at the level of the 4th year of study. The pilot revealed that the questions were easy to understand.

One amendment was done based on the pilot. We removed the year of study as to when the clinical skill was performed. We had a question where we asked in which year of study, the skill was taught. The students found it difficult to remember when exactly they did a particular skill but could remember if they had done the skill. We follow a spiral curriculum and certain skills are repeated in different years with varying levels of complexity, so it would be difficult for the students to also remember accurately. For example resuscitation is taught in year 1, 2, 3, 4, with increasing levels of complexity added.

Table 3: A methodological summary of the study

Research Question	Conceptual framework	Data	Data collection	Data Analysis
		Source	tools	method
1. What curricular	Kolb Experiential	students	Questionnaire	List of
approach and clinical	learning,(Kolb,1984),		and interviews	curriculum
skills content were	Prior knowledge (Kujawa			subjects.
the SACMC students	and Huske,1995) and			Thematic
exposed to during	Biggs' (1999) alignment			analysis of
their Cuban based	theory			interviews
training in medicine?				for approach
(Student perceptions				and content
of curricular				of teaching.
approach and clinical				
skills content)				
2. What clinical skills	Miller's clinical	students	Clinical skills	Basic
training did the	competence Theory		questionnaire	descriptive
students receive in	(1990) and experiential			statistics
the Cuban setting and	learning			
how does the training				
compare to that				
offered at the UKZN?				
3. To what extent has	Biggs' alignment (1999)	students	Questionnaire	Basic
students' prior	theories and		And	descriptive
clinical experiences	Transfer theories (Interviews	statistics and
and skills training in	Perkins and			thematic
Cuba facilitated their	Salomon,1992)			analysis
clinical preparedness				
in the local clinical				
setting?				

4.6 Data Collection

The research questions and objectives of the study that informed the way the data was collected.

1. What curricular approach and clinical skills content were the SACMC students exposed to during their Cuban based training in medicine? (Student perceptions of curricular approach and clinical skills content)

2. What clinical skills training did the students receive in the Cuban setting and how does the training compare to that offered at the UKZN?

3. To what extent has students' prior clinical experiences and skills training in Cuba facilitated their clinical preparedness in the local clinical setting?

Questionnaires and semi structured audio recorded interviews were used to collect data about question (1, 2 and 3). Data was collected by means of 2 self-administered questionnaires. All 11 students were asked to complete both questionnaires. The first questionnaire dealt with general demographic details, scholastic ability, the philosophy and content of the Cuban curriculum. The second questionnaire was a clinical skills questionnaire.

The Clinical Examination Skills Questionnaire (Appendix 6) consisted of a list of clinical skills which had been taught to local students on the MBChB programme at the NRMSM. For each of the listed skills, participants were asked to indicate:

a) Whether they had been exposed to the skill: (had been taught the skill; yes/no)

b) The setting in which the he skill had been taught (lecture, ward, or skills laboratory)

c) Their perceived ability at performing the skill (these ranged from being able to perform the skill independently; can perform it with supervision, being able to perform after revision, will not attempt it at all)

The questionnaire (Appendix 6) elicited information in 9 categories including skills relating to:communication, resuscitation, adult examination, newborn examination, general procedural skills, specimen collection, obstetrics and gynaecology procedures, airway management procedures and radiological examination. In total the list consisted of 75 clinical skills in the nine categories that were deemed important for entry and success at the 4th year level of a NRMSM medical student. The skills were described as basic and essential for students studying on the MBChB programme at the UKZN.

The two questionnaires were completed sequentially. Qualitative data were collected through interviews which were conducted two weeks after the administration of the skills questionnaire. Interviews lasting 35 - 40minutes were conducted in the researcher's office at the university to ensure the students had privacy, were comfortable and had easy access to return to the wards. Firstly, general information was gathered and then later more sensitive and specific topics were introduced as good rapport was established initially between me and the participants. Interviews were audio-recordedafter obtaining permission to do so from each student at the beginning of their interview. This was done to ensure the accuracy of the information. Audio CDs will be stored securely in a locked cupboard in the researcher's office and will be retained for a period of five years as per university stipulations. All 11 students were asked to complete 2 questionnaires prior to the interviews. The interview questions and all the questionnaires appear in the appendix.

4.7 Data Analysis Strategies

Cresswell (1998) quoted in (Leedy, Ormrod 2005: 150) has described a data analysis spiral that can be used in qualitative studies. This spiral involves four steps namely the organisation of the data (filing, database usage and breakdown of large units to smaller units), perusal of the data (getting an overall sense of the data and preliminary interpretations), classification of the data (grouping into themes and categories and patterns) and finally the synthesis of the data, (integration of the data and hypothesis formation). I used this data analysis spiral to analyse the data gathered from the interviews and the questionnaires. In addition to this, basic descriptive statistical analysis was performed on the data.

The data collected from the two questionnaires were analysed in terms of basic descriptive statistics and were displayed as tables with multiple columns, allowing comparison to be made with all eleven students. The second questionnaire was a clinical skills questionnaire which provided a large amount of information and was analysed carefully. Quantitative data was collected from the questionnaire. All quantitative data was entered onto an Excel spread sheet and each item was analysed with basic descriptive statistics. Qualitative data from the interviews was transcribed and thematically analysed. The qualitative data was analysed initially according to the following four themes i.e. clinical skills experiences of teaching, learning relationships, clinical assessments and self-reflection. These were then narrowed to

three areas that of the Cuban philosophy, clinical skills competency, student awareness of gaps in knowledge and suggestions for improvement of program.

4.8 Ethics and Human Subjects Issues

Permission for the study was obtained from the Humanities and Social Science Research Ethics Committee (HSS/0974/012M) of the UKZN and gatekeeper permission was granted by the Dean of the School of Clinical Medicine and the registrar of the University of KwaZulu-Natal. Individual informed consent was obtained from each respondent after having been informed of the nature and purpose of the study; their rights in terms of voluntary participation; and having been given assurance of confidentiality and anonymity.

4.9 Role of the researcher

Specific challenges of qualitative research include reflexivity, the researcher's perspective which is based on the researcher's personal and professional experiences as well as beliefs about the way life works. The way to avoid reflexivity is for the researcher to identify and share his/her r own preconceptions and bias surrounding the research and establish a strategy for creating a neutral position in the research. (Malterud 2001).

I am a clinical coordinator of the 4th year of the MbchB programme and a lecturer for the first three years of the MBCHB programme. I have had involvement with previous Cuban students in 2012 and the remediation programme. However for the 2013 cohort of Cubans I was not involved with the teaching of clinical skills prior to my study. In 2014 I did a revision program of clinical skills with the same students, which was about 6 months after collecting my data. None of the participants had any pre-existing personal relationship to me. All were unknown to me. I am not a coordinator of the Cuban medical students and not an examiner of the 4th year student's examinations or any of their assessments.

I am involved in teaching within the clinical skills lab for students from the first to the third year of study and I am involved in the clinical assessments for students from these years only. Consequently there were no power relationship issues that could have arisen in this study.

4.10 Trustworthiness of the qualitative data

There are four ways to assess reliability and validity of qualitative studies. These include the following: transferability which refers to evidence supporting generalization of findings to other contexts; dependability which is reproducing similar findings if the study was done again, confirmability is the control of bias of the researcher and credibility which is believability of findings enhanced by evidence and theoretical fit. (Suter, 2005: 363) Ways to reduce bias and improve trustworthiness in a study (Suter, 2005: 364), include using expert consultation, providing rich detail to contextualize the study, detailed record of data collection and the use of triangulation, where multiple data sources are used.

Another challenge is transferability, the researcher has to determine both whether the study is internally valid and whether it is externally valid and whether the results of this study will be transferable to all South African-Cuban collaboration students completing their training in South Africa. In qualitative research this is usually achieved by purposive sampling and consideration of those to whom the finding will actually concern (Malterud 2001).

Trustworthiness of qualitative data deals with issues related to credibility, transferability, dependability and confirmability (Shenton, 2003, and Guba, 1981). In this study, trustworthiness was established in the following ways.

Credibility deals with the adoption of well-established research methods. In this study, the qualitative data was collected by means of the open ended questions on a questionnaire and through interviews with the participants. These sequential and complimentary phases allowed data to be collected in two different ways and ensured that data collected in phase one guided the process in phase 2, thereby adding to the rigor of the study. The researcher and supervisor ensured that all information from both instruments had been included which also assists with credibility.

Each semi-structured interview was conducted in an office at the school and audio recorded after obtaining students' consent for the interview and for the recording thereof. Each interview was completely private with one student at a time. The researcher also made notes during the interview. Interviews were listened to carefully. The interviews were transcribed by the researcher and the transcriptions were checked against the recordings to ensure the accuracy of the transcriptions. The researcher identified and coded the themes after the transcription process and these were cross checked with the supervisor. Qualitative reliability was improved through ensuring that errors did not occur when transcribing the raw data by going over the audiotaped interviews more than once, and comparing it to the final transcribed data. The data was analysed and the themes identified and then cross checked to ensure accuracy. The supervisor verified the themes and the dependability of the data.

- Triangulation of data sources into the phenomenon was obtained by piloting the questionnaire with a purposive sample of 4th year students, documents from meetings around the SACMC and exam board minutes relevant to the issue.
- In addition, qualitative research requires a "thick description" of the phenomenon under study. To achieve this goal, the researcher had included detailed information of the context of the study, illustrated examples of the clinical skills associated with a theme to convey sufficient background information on the "actual situations being investigated and the extent of the contexts that surround them". (Shenton, 2003:69)
- The honesty of the informants were ensured as all participants had been informed of the study, asked whether they would like to participate, and informed that they could refuse or withdraw at any stage during the process.

Transferability was achieved in that_large amounts of background information had been included to establish the context of the study, detailed descriptions of the cohort and the phenomenon being studied to ensure that other researchers would be able to determine if the results were transferable to their contexts.

Dependability was ensured through the use of the piloting process with a group of 4th year students to ensure that the questionnaire, as data collection instrument, collected accurate and useful data. Methodological descriptions were included in the research report and all questionnaires and interview questions have been included in the appendices. This allows for the study to be repeated and enables future researchers to repeat the work.

Confirmability was ensured through the following:

• Triangulation of data sources and research methods was used as noted above to reduce the effect of researcher bias. Other data sources included the minutes of

examination board meetings that affirms the trustworthiness of the collected data regarding the preparedness in clinical skills of the Cuban trained students.

- The beliefs of the researcher were admitted at the outset which stated that the researcher and other clinical educators did not have an adequate understanding of the clinical skills preparedness acquired by Cuban trained students. (p3 of the introduction) The researchers' interest in understanding the phenomenon, as 4th year coordinator and lecturer has also been described.
- The shortcomings and limitations of this exploratory case study had been highlighted. One of main limitations relates to the inability at this stage to provide an accurate measure or assessment of students' actual competence. This study relied on students' perceptions of preparedness.

4.11 Limitations of the study

Limitations are provided so that the findings may be evaluated from an informed perspective. Limitations are discussed in terms of the design of the study, the researcher, the research instruments and the limitations of the participants.

4.11.1 Study design

In terms of the design of the study qualitative data is not always generalizable and might not apply to other students and other contexts.

4.11.2 Limitations as a researcher

I am still a novice researcher and therefore a more experienced researcher might have designed the study differently. Themes were verified by my supervisor. It is also important to note that more information on the SACMC training programmes and collaborations with various countries probably exist in Spanish but only those available in English had been accessed.

4.11.3 Limitations of the research instruments used in the data collection.

Questionnaires were used to collect students' perception of performance rather than actually assessing their performance which is a limitation. Interviews were time consuming and could have been intimidating for the shy or nervous student. Some students were more vocal and freely shared their thoughts and feelings when compared to others.

4.11.4 Limitations of participants

Fourth year medical students have very busy timetables and various module requirements. Students had to take time-out from their busy schedules in order to present themselves for the questionnaires and for the interviews. So stress, fatigue, and other distracting factors might have contributed to their abilities to accurately recall their experiences. The students spent 5 years in Cuba and I am testing their ability to recall the previous 5 years. This might have been challenging for some of the students with recall bias being a factor to take into account.

4.12 Conclusion

This chapter has provided an overview of the research design, the study population, the data collection tools used in the study and how the data was collected, analysed and was elaborated on. The role of the researcher, the trustworthiness of the methods used, the ethical issues and the limitations of the study were discussed. The following chapter discusses the data findings and is dedicated to the presentation and analysis of the qualitative and quantitative data.

CHAPTER 5: FINDINGS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter contains the results obtained from the analysis of all the data. This includes the data analysis of two questionnaires, a general demographic questionnaire which included questions to elicit curriculum content and approach, as well as a clinical skills questionnaire and finally an analysis of the interviews.

The findings will be reported according to my original research questions:

1. What curricular approach and clinical skills content were the SACMC students exposed to during their Cuban based training in medicine? (Student perceptions of curricular approach and clinical skills content)

2. What clinical skills training did the students receive in the Cuban setting and how does the training compare to that offered at the UKZN?

3. To what extent has students' prior clinical experiences and skills training in Cuba facilitated their competence/clinical preparedness in the local clinical setting??

5.2 Demographic Characteristics

Eleven students from the South African Cuban Medical Collaboration programme joined the NRMSM at UKZN in 2013. All 11 students agreed to participate in the study. All the students are South African citizens, four students are female and the average age of the group was 26 years. The majority of students matriculated having studied English, Mathematics, Biology and Physics at senior secondary school level and 10 students also studied Physics at senior secondary school.

Students attended the local rural schools in their respective areas while growing up. For five this included schools in the Limpopo province; another five matriculated from KwaZulu-Natal and one from Eastern Cape. Seven students reported growing up without their fathers and reported being raised and cared for by their mothers. Six students in this group reported having also reported growing up without mothers (either deceased/absent). At the time of the study all students had at least 4 siblings. In terms of scholastic ability, 5 of the students received an A average on the senior certificate examination upon graduating from high school by achieving between 71-80% class percentage. Four students scored between 61-70 % range, while two students obtained a percentage between 51-60% in their final secondary examination.

Ten students had access to textbooks while studying at school. Only 2 students reported having access to a computer and the internet while at school. Only one student had access to a home computer. None of the students had internet access at home at the time of their secondary schooling experiences.

5.3 Curriculum approach

The students in this sample attended one of 3 universities in Cuba during their six year medical training period. Four students (2 female, 2 male) studied at Cienfuegos; three students (2 male, 1 female) studied at Villa Clara and four students, (1 female, 3 males),

studied at Sancti Spiritus. With reference to the style of teaching used during their prior MBChB training, six students reported being taught primarily in a lecture style and theoretically oriented curriculum. Four students studied in a Problem Based Learning curriculum and one student indicated that theoretical lectures and PBL methods were equally used during her studies in Cuba.

The Cuban programme emphasised a primary health care approach and all the teaching in the undergraduate curriculum was aimed to treat and manage patients with disease profiles which are prevalent in the Cuban context. Patient management strategies are also based on preventive measures and tertiary levels of care were not emphasised in the Cuban curriculum. All students underwent individual bedside clinical assessments where their clinical skills were assessed based on the taking of a history and doing a physical examination on a real patient in either the hospital or a clinic setting.

Most of the students reported having access to the library, textbooks, study notes, lecture material, electronic resources, internet training and internet usage. In terms of oral presentations all students had exposure to them. Students reported frequent team work based learning experiences. Most of the students reported having access to and being required to conduct research projects, community projects as well as report writing.

5.4 Content of Medical Curriculum in Cuba

Data collected from the student responses in Table 5 indicate that the schools offered the following content as part of the undergraduate medical curriculum in Cuba.

Table 4: Content of medical curriculum in Cuba

First Year	Second Year	Third Year
Spanish	Physiology	Propodeutica (an
(conversational and	Anatomy	introduction to
medical)	Embryology,	medicine)
Morphophysiology	Microbiology	Internal medicine
(integrated course	Pharmacology	Psychology
that combined	Genetics	Pharmacology
Anatomy and	Pathology	Anaesthesia
Physiology with	Family Medicine	Semiology
embryology and	Statistics	Family Medicine
biochemistry)	Histology	
Biochemistry	Psychology	
Histology	Physical Education	
Computer Literacy	Computer Literacy	
Philosophy	Philosophy	
Physical Education		
Fourth Year	Fifth Year	
Paediatrics	Public Health	
Obstetrics and	Family Medicine	
Gynaecology	Internal Medicine	
Surgery	Dermatology	
Family Medicine	Urology	
Nursing	Otorhinolaryngology	
Internal medicine	Ophthalmology	
An elective in any	Psychiatry	
discipline.	Forensics	
	Chinese Medicine	
	Medical English	
	An elective in any	
	discipline.	

5.5 Students exposure to clinical skills

Students were asked to rate their exposure to the clinical skills which are regarded as core in the training at the UKZN. Table 6 and 7 below present the clinical skills topics in 9 categories with the students' rating and learning environment of their Cuban based training. The tables also demonstrate the breakdown within each category of non –exposure and exposure of the skills as well as the location of training.

SKILLS	EXPO	SURE	SETTING				LEVEL OF PERFORMANCE				
ADULT:			Lecture	Ward	Laboratory	all	independent	With	With	Not at	
	Yes	No	Theatre					supervision	revision	all	
General examination	11	0	5	4	2	5	2	5	3	1	
Cardiovascular	11	0	8	8	2	2	4	4	4	0	
Respiratory	11	0	6	7	3	3	5	2	4	0	
Abdominal	11	0	7	8	2	2	2	5	4	0	
Neurological	11	0	8	10	2	0	1	2	7	1	
Obstetrical	11	0	7	9	0	1	2	4	3	4	
Gynaecological	11	0	6	7	0	1	1	3	4	1	
Neck Thyroid exam	11	0	8	8	1	1	5	2	4	4	
Exam male ext. genitalia	11	0	5	6	0	1	1	3	2	1	
Rectal examination	11	0	6	5	0	2	2	4	2	0	
Newborn Examination											
General exam newborn	10	1	6	8	0	1	2	3	4	1	
Radiological examinations											
CXR	9	2	7	8	0	1	1	5	3	0	
Abdominal XR	9	2	7	8	0	1	0	4	5	0	
XR Bones and Joints	9	2	7	7	0	1	1	3	4	0	

Table 5 : Overall Clinical skill results showing Exposure and Non – Exposure to clinical skills in Cuba and location of training for each skill as well as the level of performance

Specimen Collection										
Fungal scrapes	9	2	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
Wound swabs	5	6	4	4	0	0	1	2	1	1
Blood culture	4	7	0	2	1	2	1	1	1	1
Nasal and throat swab	2	9	1	1	0	1	2	0	0	0
Urine/stool specimen	7	4	2	2	0	2	1	2	3	1
Gastric washings	2	9	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	0
Sputum collection	7	4	2	5	0	1	5	1	1	0
Pus aspirate	3	8	2	2	0	0	1	0	1	1
Pus swabs	5	6	2	3	0	0	1	1	1	0
Urine collection	6	5	3	5	0	0	2	1	3	0
Use of urine dipstick	1	10	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
SKII I S										
SNILLS	EXPO	SURE		SET	TING		LEV	EL OF PERFC	RMANCE	
Obstetric and Gynae procedures	EXPO	SURE	Lecture	SET Ward	TING Laboratory	all	LEV independent	EL OF PERFC	With	Not at
Obstetric and Gynae procedures	EXPO Yes	SURE	Lecture Theatre	SET Ward	TING Laboratory	all	LEV independent	EL OF PERFC With supervision	With revision	Not at all
Obstetric and Gynae procedures Pap smear/ smear	Yes 2	SURE No 9	Lecture Theatre	SET Ward	Laboratory 0	all 0	independent 0	Vith	With revision	Not at all
Obstetric and Gynae procedures Pap smear/ smear Speculum insertion	Yes 2 9	SURE No 9 2	Lecture Theatre 0 2	SET Ward 2 8	Laboratory 0 0	all 0 2	independent 0 2	Vith Supervision 2 5	With revision 0 2	Not at all 0 1
Obstetric and Gynae procedures Pap smear/ smear Speculum insertion Mechanism of labour delivery	Yes 2 9 5	SURE No 9 2 6	Lecture Theatre 0 2 3	SET Ward 2 8 3	TING Laboratory 0 0 0	all 0 2 1	independent 0 2 1	Vith Supervision 2 5 0	With revision 0 2 0	Not at all 0 1 4
Obstetric and Gynae procedures Pap smear/ smear Speculum insertion Mechanism of labour delivery Airway management procedures	Yes 2 9 5	SURE No 9 2 6	Lecture Theatre 0 2 3	SET Ward 2 8 3	TING Laboratory 0 0 0	all 0 2 1	Independent 0 2 1	Vith supervision 2 5 0	With revision 0 2 0	Not at all 0 1 4
Obstetric and Gynae procedures Pap smear/ smear Speculum insertion Mechanism of labour delivery Airway management procedures oropharyngeal airway	Yes 2 9 5 3	SURE No 9 2 6 8	Lecture Theatre 0 2 3 3	SET Ward 2 8 3 2 2	TING Laboratory 0 0 0	all 0 2 1 1	LEV independent 0 2 1 1 0	Vith Supervision 2 5 0	With revision 0 2 0 1	Not at all 0 1 4 1
Obstetric and Gynae procedures Pap smear/ smear Speculum insertion Mechanism of labour delivery Airway management procedures oropharyngeal airway Cricoid pressure	Yes 2 9 5 3 1	SURE No 9 2 6 8 10	Lecture Theatre 0 2 3 3 0 0	SET Ward 2 8 3 2 2 1	TING Laboratory 0 0 0 0 0	all 0 2 1 1 0	LEV independent 0 2 1 1 0 0 0	Vector Performance Vith Supervision 2 2 5 0 0 0 0	With revision 0 2 0 1 0	Not at all 0 1 4 1 1 1

Airway management procedures										
Bag –valve mask	1	10	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0
Orotracheal intubation	5	6	2	2	0	2	0	0	1	3
Oxygen administration	8	3	0	6	1	2	2	0	3	2
Use of nasal cannulae	4	7	1	1	0	2	1	1	1	1
laryngeal mask airway	6	5	3	18	0	2	2	0	1	3
Use of face masks	7	4	3	3	0	1	2	2	1	2
Asthma adjuncts										
Peak flow meter	1	10	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
Metred dose inhaler	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Spacer devices	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Nebulisation	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Procedures										
Rapid cholesterol test	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Glucogel administration	1	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
50% dextrose administration	5	6	4	3	0	1	1	1	1	2
Haemoglucotest	2	9	2	2	0	0	0	0	1	1
Body Temp	10	1	7	8	0	2	9	2	0	0
Rapid Hiv test	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mantoux	7	4	5	4	1	1	1	1	5	0
12 lead ECG	9	2	6	6	0	1	1	0	0	0
Adult Anthropometry	5	6	5	4	0	0	1	9	3	0
Infant anthropometry	10	1	6	9	1	1	3	3	3	1

SKILLS	EXPC	SURE		SET	TING		LEVEL OF PERFORMANCE			
			Lecture	Ward	Laboratory	all	independent	With	With	Not at
	Yes	No	Theatre					supervision	revision	all
Peripheral IV cannulation	5	6	0	3	1	2	2	3	0	0
Insertion of CVP	1	10	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
Lumbar puncture	7	4	3	4	1	0	2	2	0	2
Spinal block	1	10	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
Nasogastric tube	7	4	3	3	1	1	1	2	0	4
Blood collection	8	3	3	4	2	1	3	3	1	1
Urinary catheterisation	10	1	3	7	3	1	3	2	3	1
Resuscitation										
One man CPR for an adult, child,	4	7	0	0	2	2	1	2	1	0
infant										
3 lead ECG monitoring	3	8	1	2	1	1	2	0	1	0
AED	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Defibrillator	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Recognition of cardiac arrest	6	5	5	6	0	0	0	3	1	2
arrhythmias										
Neonatal resuscitation	3	8	3	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
	•	•	•		•	•	•	•		

Skill	Expo	xposure Setting					Level o	f performance	Language				
	yes	no	Lect.	Ward	Lab	all	Indep.	Supervision	Revision	Not all	Spanish	English	Both
Communication skills													
Approach to communication	8	3	6	5	0	2	5	1	2	0	2	0	6
General history taking	11	0	7	10	2	1	7	1	3	0	9	0	10
Cardiovascular history	11	0	6	9	2	2	5	3	3	0	2	0	9
Respiratory history	11	0	6	9	2	2	6	2	3	0	2	0	9
Gastrointestinal history	11	0	6	9	2	2	6	2	3	0	2	0	9
Neurological history	11	0	6	9	2	2	3	5	2	1	2	0	8
Obstetrical history	10	1	7	9	1	1	5	1	3	1	3	0	6
Gynaecological history	10	1	7	9	1	1	4	2	3	1	3	0	6
Urinary history	11	0	6	9	2	2	4	3	4	0	3	0	8
Bereavement counselling	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Counselling of HIV positive	1	10	9	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1
Patients													
			1										

Skills Categories	Number of skills	Number of Skills where majority of students had reported no exposure in Cuba.	Number of Skills where majority of students reported exposure in Cuba	Location of training
Communication skills	11	2 bereavement counselling of HIV positive patients	9 skills	Mainly learnt communication skills in lectures and wards
Resuscitation skills	6	5	1	Recognition of cardiac arrest arrthymias was the only skill that students reported having any exposure to and whatever exposure that was gained was predominantly in the ward
Adult examination	10	0	10	All eleven students were taught the basic adult examination skills predominantly in lectures and ward based environments. Only 3 students reported some exposure in a clinical skills laboratory or simulated clinical environment.
New-born examination	1	0	1	Majority of students were exposed to this in the wards.
Specimen collection	11	7	4	Sputum collection, urine collection and fungal scrapes were reported to have been taught predominantly in the wards and in lectures
General procedures	17	9	8	In lectures and clinical wards
Obs. & Gynae procedures	3	2	1	In clinical ward
Airway procedures & asthma adjuncts	13	10	3	In clinical ward
Radiological exam.	3	0	3	In clinical ward
Totals	75 skills	35 skills no exposure	40 skills exposure	

Table 6: Comparison of Clinical skill Exposure and Non – Exposure of the Cuban trained students per category and training location

A total of 75 clinical skills had been taught at UKZN on the MBCHB curriculum during the first three years. As indicated quantitatively in Table 4, students who studied in Cuba reported no exposure to 35 - and exposure to 40 of the skills which had been passed by the local students.

5.6 Impact of prior clinical experiences and skills training on perceived preparedness

The table below gives a breakdown of the data recorded when students rated their perceived competence in the listed skills.

Table 7: Perceived Competence of the skill in majority of students:

Skills (no. of skills	No. of Skills where
in the category)	majority 50% or at
	least six students
	were able to do
	independently
Communication	3 skills
skills(11)	General, respiratory
	and gastrointestinal
	history taking
Resuscitation skills	None
(6)	
Adult examination	none
(10)	
Newborn	none
examination skills (1)	
Specimen collection	none
(11)	
General	1- Taking body
procedures(17)	temperature.
Obstetrics and	none
gynaecology	
procedures (3)	
Airway management	none
procedures and	
asthma adjuncts (13)	
Radiological	none
examination (3)	
Totals (75)	4

5.7 Impact of prior clinical experiences on student competence

Students were interviewed about their training experiences in Cuba and the interviews were transcribed and then thematically analysed. The analysis of the interviews generated the following themes to answer the final research question which is: To what extent has students' prior experiences, academic preparedness and skills training facilitated a perceived preparedness in the local clinical setting. The following 3 themes emerged from the qualitative data from the interviews.

5.7.1 Philosophy of the Cuban Curriculum

Data elicited from interviews with students confirmed that they experienced the curriculum as didactic teaching supported by many lectures and seminars. The practical components of the course received much less attention and emphasis. The content of the curriculum was in line with the Cuban health care system and Cuban health issues. This included predominantly primary health care and community medicine. South African health issues such as HIV and Aids and infectious diseases received little additional emphasis.

"Well clinically in Cuba, there we don't get exposure to do things practically like taking blood and all those things like delivery, those things you do when you are a qualified doctor."

Student A (male)

"Well about Cuba what concerns me, those people they focus on the problems of their country like treating TB, there is no TB there. In the exam you will never find someone talking about HIV there. Even their snakes are not toxic. Even if they bite you nothing can happen. ... Clinically- wise in Cuba we were not exposed to such things. O and G in Cuba is totally different, the classification of the disease is different, when they ask you here they are totally different even in terms of giving medications."

Student F (male)

"With the theory we are not bad. The one thing we need to learn is infectious diseases, because that's what matters here with HIV and Aids. I can see the concepts, I can probably talk about it but I don't know how it presents. It's easier to teach me about it when I see a patient, and TB., Its bread and butter here in South Africa actually all infectious diseases, its really what matters here.....: "We just had a brief overview of HIV and Aids but they don't give much theory, just a brief summary, about 10 lines."

Student C (female)

5.7.2 Clinical skills experiences of teaching in Cuba

Clinical skills teaching and learning occurred mainly in the lecture theatres and seminar rooms and wards during ward rounds and patient presentations. Students reported working in groups of 20-30 students around the bedside during the teaching of clinical skills. In addition to large numbers of students in the groupings, the students also had to compete with other general practitioners and student interns who joined ward rounds. Sometimes students were unable to examine patients who were being presented due to the large numbers of other doctors and students who also wished to learn and practice their clinical skills on patients.

"In Cuba the clinical experience was not really fruitful in the ward when you doing ward rounds there are more than 25 students around the same bed...Not really easy to learn...There are many medical practitioners in Cuba, GPs and doctors and many learning...in our group there were 30 students."

Student F (Male)

"The whole group is 20-21 students, in 3rd year, other students will be there and registrars and consultants."

Student B (female)

The teaching was theory-oriented with not much exposure to the practical application of clinical skills.

"Good at theory they gave us almost everything in theory. Although had exposure of clinical skills, not as much as we are expected to have, lack a lot in terms of practical skills, lacking in practical skills...groups of 30 students..."

Student G (male)

"In Cuba students are not hands on, here students are hands on, they can insert iv lines." The same student says "We are fine with the theory...we lack the practical side of it ...it makes it difficult to remember the theory."

Student C (female)

All students reported positive experiences in their learning relationships in Cuba. Their professors were willing to help them to understand difficult concepts in theory.

"The Cubans make you feel like you not inferior like you on the same level as them, really good people, we were close, they would invite you to their house, come to dinner, they were taking us like we are family, I don't know if it was just my consultants."

Student B (female)

"First of all Cubans as general are very nice people, they love foreign people, they pay more attention to foreign people, they know guti [isiZulu] that it was just difficult for some reason. They help us through the studies."

Student E (female)

5.7.3 Clinical skills competency, student awareness of gaps in knowledge and suggestions for improvement of program.

Students hold the understanding that the types of disease profiles of Cuban patients are different from those seen in South Africa and hence they would benefit from early exposure to clinical skills training. Students also expressed the need to be taught in English. They received their training exclusively in Spanish and experienced the medical terminology used in English when back in South Africa as difficult and challenging to adjust to. Students thought that they would have benefitted from less theory and more practice especially in the application of the clinical skills in their curriculum. Some of the students also expressed their frustration with the fact that their Cuban teachers did not have access to a South African curriculum. They thought that they would have benefitted greatly if health issues of relevance to the South African perspective could be discussed.

"Procedures not exposed to can be improved. In Cienfuegos in my campus, the South African were taking nursing classes because we complained of that"

Student D (male)

"How they manage patients in Cuba is not the same. The disease... we focus on their disease rather than the disease here. I mean the exposure, so here its different.....I would say it needs improvement, here we have to recognise murmurs, maybe there its one patient out of 500 patients."

Student E (female)

"Most of the time in the program its lectures so we don't have enough time to practice clinical skills. Its theory based. For example even a final year student in O and G can finish the block without even doing a delivery."

Student F (male)

5.8 Conclusion

This chapter revealed the following findings. The majority of students self-reported a lack of exposure to 35 of the overall 75 skills which are deemed important foundational skills in the MBChB context at the UKZN. The majority of students perceived themselves as being unable to perform 95% of the clinical skills. (i.e. 71of a possible 75 clinical skills). Students perceived themselves able to perform independently 5 % of the clinical skills (i.e. 4 of 75 skills). These four skills were general history taking, respiratory history taking, gastro-intestinal history taking and the taking of a body temperature.

The interviews revealed that while the Cuban program is primary health care based, many primary health care skills are either not taught or practiced by students within the first 5 years of training in the Cuban setting. Three themes emerged and were discussed namely the philosophy of the Cuban curriculum in teaching and content, clinical skills experiences of teaching in Cuba and finally clinical skills competency, the student awareness of gaps in knowledge and suggestions for improvement of the program. The next chapter will present a discussion of the findings and will conclude with recommendations for future practice/research or policy.

CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION

6.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses the findings outlined in the previous chapter regarding the curriculum approach, content, clinical skills training and the students' perception of their clinical competence as acquired in the Cuban medical training contexts. It provides recommendations related to the SACMC programme and some conclusions to the study. The discussion is presented according to the aims of the study and guided by the original research questions.

6.2 Curriculum Approach and Clinical Skills Content

The way in which the curriculum is enacted in Cuba can be described as a didactic, lecture-based approach with a focus on Cuban primary health care principles. There is little or no problem-based teaching as done at UKZN. At UKZN the theoretical content is delivered as part of the problem-based learning approach. It is systems based and offered over the first three years of study. The students do not rotate through internal medicine but they learn about the systems through various themes. For example, they do not do rotate through paediatrics but learn about newborn examination as part of a theme in growth and development. In Cuba, however, students rotate through disciplines and topics relating to basic sciences which are taught separately from the clinical sciences. At the UKZN, the basic sciences and clinical content is offered in an integrated curriculum as part of the PBL curriculum approach (Van Wyk & Madiba, 2006).

At the UKZN, students do not spend extended time in the clinical wards until their third year of study. They have limited clinical exposure in year 3 to patients in the wards with the majority of clinical exposure received in a simulated environment.

The students have full clinical exposure, from their 4th year to 6th year, rotating through the disciplines and spend the majority of their time in the clinical wards. In Cuba, however, ward based teaching starts in the second year and continues throughout the degree. Only one student, who

studied in Cuba, reported limited exposure to a clinical skills lab and simulated medical procedures as part of a nursing module offered to the student.

The theoretical content covered in disciplines and subjects between the two settings have some similarity however content included in the Cuban curriculum is indicative of the Cuban health care system and health issues such as an emphasis on family medicine, general practice and epidemiology relating to the setting. There is also a strong health promotion and disease prevention focus. Many commonly prevalent South African diseases are therefore neither discussed nor emphasised in the Cuban curriculum.

6.3 Students' training and perceived competence in performing clinical skills

Communication Skills:

The qualitative data indicated that the majority of students have been taught the various components related to 9 of the 12 communication skills. These included an approach to skills in general history taking, cardiovascular, respiratory, gastrointestinal, neurological, obstetrical, gynaecological and urinary history. Except for one, all students lacked training in bereavement counselling and training and exposure to counselling of the HIV positive patient. This lack of communication skills is very challenging when the SACMC students join the UKZN class as communication skills teaching is foundational to the success of the clinical skills program. It is also often practiced with simulated patients. At NRMSM students are taught bereavement counselling as well as HIV counselling as they are exposed to such patients in the 4th year of study. The majority of students perceived themselves as competent in taking only three histories from patients, ie an independent general respiratory and gastrointestinal history.

Resuscitation skills:

All 11 students reported not having been taught on the use of an Automated External Defibrillator or a defibrillator. Although six students indicated having been exposed to the theory on the topic, most SACMC students lacked skills in resuscitation. These students indicated a need for a clinical supervisor to help them recognise the signs. One student thought that she would be able to perform a one man CPR independently and 2 students were confident that they could set up 3 lead ECG monitoring. The students indicated that resuscitation skills were not emphasised in their Cubantraining curriculum.

Adult examination skills, specimen collection and all procedures:

All eleven students were exposed to the basic adult examination skills. However, none perceived themselves as being competent in performing any of these skills. Students were exposed to sputum collection, urine specimen collection and fungal scrapes in the specimen collection category. The majority of students were exposed to a mantoux, 12 lead ECG, infant anthropometry, lumbar puncture, nasogastric tube insertion, blood collection and urinary catheterisation in response to a total of 17 general procedures that were enquired about. The SACMC students only reported competence in a single procedure; that of taking a body temperature.

This study explored the extent to which SA-Cuban collaboration medical students' (SACMC) prior clinical training and experiences matched the clinical skills training offered to local UKZN students in the first three years. The results indicate a number of significant issues relating to the SACMC students' experiences and perceptions of their preparedness for clinical practice which range from a lack of clinical skills exposure, lack of clinical skill practice and perceived incompetence in the majority of essential skills.

The student's perceived lack of clinical skills exposure may be related to various differences between the Cuban and South African curricula. This is evident both in terms of the placement and training of the student at a particular institution in a context where the approach to training, patient disease profile and method of training is very different.

It is also evident in terms of the mismatch between students' exposures in the different curriculum phases in the two settings. SACMC students had received predominantly theoretical information on most of the clinical skills which had been taught in more practical (hands-on sessions) to students at the NRMSM. Skills training at the NRMSM is based on a system approach. Students first receive an overview, then practice on low fidelity models and peers before revisiting the skills while being supervised when working with patients.
Skills training in the Cuban setting occur much later in students' clinical training years. The fact that the SACMC students return to SA before reaching this critical point in the Cuban curriculum leaves them poorly prepared and disoriented upon entering halfway through the SA curriculum. SACMC students received theoretical information on the skills but in the context of being exposed to much fewer patients in the Cuban setting have had fewer opportunities to actually observe and practice these skills.

Furthermore, most of the training in Cuba occurs in clinical wards where it is much more difficult to initiate the practice of the skill on the real patient. At the local university students are taught in a dedicated clinical skills laboratory and they are supervised while practicing on models and their peers. Exposure to simulated patients and models greatly assist with practice time in the simulated environment before exposure to real patients. This phased approach allows students to develop confidence and to receive feedback in safe settings which greatly impacts on future practice. For example the use of a defibrillator and CPR are introduced much later in the Cuban curriculum with reference to the teaching of resuscitation skills.

Research on clinical skills acquisition using traditional methods of clinical medical education versus simulation-based methods of medical education with deliberate practice show that clinical skills acquired in simulated settings is superior and transfer directly to better patient care and outcomes (McGaghie et al, 2011). Simulation is not meant to replace the need for learning in clinical working environments; it simply helps students to improve their preparation for the clinical environment and ultimately improves their clinical experiences (Maran and Glavin, 2003).

Local Cuban students who continue and complete the degree in Cuba would therefore receive adequate exposure to the skills but at a later stage. The SACMC students who join the SA program, where students have been introduced to the use of a defibrillator from the first year of medical school, have missed this exposure and need additional sessions to correct the disadvantage. As mentioned previously in the paper, constructive alignment is essential to ensure that the planned learning activities in the curriculum, help students achieve the expected learning outcomes (Biggs, 1999).

Skills in which the SACMC students had received inadequate exposure relates to bereavement counselling and HIV/AIDS counselling. This lack of exposure to this component in training is

indicative of the differences between the health/disease profile and health care contexts of the countries. Given the large HIV positive population in the South African setting, this skill is one which is highly required and practiced in the South African context and therefore deemed important to include during training. Students reported limited to no contact with HIV positive patients, due to a very low incidence of HIV positive patients and therefore a much lesser need to practice the skill in the Cuban setting.

Resuscitation skills and airway management skills are also addressed later in the Cuban curriculum whereas the skills are taught and practiced from the first year at the NRMSM. This is largely due to the local UKZN teaching philosophy and our problem based learning curriculum which reflects the higher incidence of trauma and emergencies in the local population. The prevalence has been linked to crime and the impact of the poor South African primary health care service as delivered to underprivileged communities which reflect the socio-economic differences between the countries.

SACMC students felt poorly prepared in the majority of the listed clinical skills to which South African students had been exposed during the first three years. It is possible that their perceptions might stem from an inability to transfer their knowledge between the different heath care contexts and environments. Their insecurities may be related to far transfer (Perkins and Saloman, 1992). Educationally, we can only say that learning has occurred when students are able to demonstrate their learning.

The SACMC students are required to learn medicine in Cuba and practice medicine in South Africa. The findings indicate that transfer of clinical skills knowledge by students has not occurred optimally. The reasons can be explained by research done by Perkins and Salomon, (1992) who have identified a number of conditions which are required for successful transfer. Two of the most important in the context of transfer of clinical skills include:

- Thorough and extensive practice of the performance in a variety of contexts.
- Learners' active involvement in self-monitoring to promote skills transfer

(Perkins & Salomon, 1992).

Students' perceptions of their incompetence in the skills could also relate to issues around cultural competence (Bacote, 1999) which may affect their confidence levels. This may be due to the interplay between language, culture and environmental differences which may affect students' adaptation to a new training institution, the clinical scope of practice i.e. disease profiles. The

cultural adaptation could also relate to students' exposure to a majority of isiZulu speaking patients as opposed to Spanish speakers and the fact that patients in the local setting may differ substantially in their education, knowledge and understanding of their own health and socio-economic status which impact on poor health outcomes.

It is also important to note the difference between the curricula in these settings might have impacted on students' perception of their clinical competence. In Cuba, the theory based curriculum teaches mainly in-ward settings while UKZN emphasises a more practical and problem-based approach in its curriculum. The use of the skills lab and simulated environments from the first year of study would impact on the local students' confidence and often ward based environments offer fewer practice opportunities and less control over clinical exposures as do planned for simulated environments.

Literature shows that medical students tend to perceive themselves as more competent when given the opportunity to practice their skills (Fincher &lewis, 1994). Coberly and Goldenhar noted that procedural performance correlates well with feelings of competency (Coberly & Goldenhar, 2007). Studies with third year students also revealed that self-assessments of competency are well correlated with frequency of performance of the procedure (Fincher &Lewis, 1994).

The implications of the above might impact on the students' confidence since they are expected by clinical teachers to perform at least as competent as their local peers. In addition, students might be unwilling to expose their lack of practice to address their disadvantage which may cause undue stress in their adaptation. It is also possible that students' self-perception of their competence might not be an objective assessment of their actual ability (Coberly & Goldenhar, 2007).

6.4 Recommendations

It is important to understand the challenges which the SACMC students face upon joining the South African institutions. Local institutions facilitating good remedial programs can assist SACMC students to attain cultural and clinical competence by designing and implementing good remedial programmes which cater for their academic needs. This will ensure that the students are successful

in their studies by addressing emerging problems and help them to graduate within the specified period.

The SACMC programme has delivered training to local disadvantaged students who would not have been admitted to the limited local training institutions with their strict quotas. These students ultimately qualify to practice in the most rural and underserved areas of South Africa. There is thus a great need to enhance and strengthen the SACMC program through better alignment of the curricula between the Cuban and South African settings.

It is therefore recommended that participating schools share information relating to the philosophies and sequence of their training programmes to improve alignment and transferability between training and practice. This will ensure that the intended learning outcomes expected from students in the ultimate practice setting become transparent and attainable.

Students should also be better supported for ease of transition into the local settings. South African universities receiving students from Cuba must therefore plan a well-structured orientation and intervention program in clinical skills to ensure that students receive adequate preparation to successfully complete their studies. This preparation needs to be part and parcel of the SACMC program to ensure that the students are adequately prepared to meet the requirements of the university and the health care needs of the population that they will ultimately serve. Governmental policies between the Cuban and South African governments should also reflect that this has been taken into consideration and adequately implemented.

Intervention programmes should include language and terminology acquisition, such as the learning of isiZulu, (the local national language), the learning of medical terminology in English, ethics of dealing with HIV positive patients and acquisition of more patient centred approaches. The SACMC students have already spent a substantial period in Cuba and have adequate theoretical knowledge and therefore require appropriate supplementation and supervision in the local clinical setting to be adjust to the local South African health care context.

This study only focussed on the SACM students' perceptions of their clinical skills adjustments to the NRMSM. Additional research on the SACMC programme is warranted in terms of the outcomes of the programme. Do students serve in rural areas after graduation, do they honour their contracts, what are their experiences there in terms of adaptation and what kind of medical care are they delivering in these hospitals? Do they require more supervision during internship and during their medical officer training and many other questions which are vital for the SA government to know regarding the success of the collaboration programme.

6.5 Conclusion

The SACMC program has played a role in training doctors from previously disadvantaged groups with the aim of increasing the supply of doctors to rural areas of South Africa.

The study has highlighted the content and approaches of the clinical training programmes offered in Cuba and at the NRMSM. There is a need to ensure that training be aligned to facilitate students' transition to the locally assigned medical school to complete their medical training. The University of KwaZulu-Natal along with the other seven South African universities needs to guarantee that all the health care professionals that graduate from our institutions will be competent to serve the people of this country.

Further research on the SACMC program including greater collaborations between local universities and Cuban universities would enable academics to correct develop the local remedial program offered and make it more effective in serving the needs of all students.

REFERENCES

Asante, A. D., Negin, J., Hall, J., Dewdney, J., & Zwi, A. B. (2012). Analysis of policy implications and challenges of the Cuban health assistance program related to human resources for health in the Pacific. *Hum Resour Health*, *10*(10).

Ausubel, D. P. (1978). In defense of advance organizers: A reply to the critics. *Review of Educational research*, 251-257.

Barnsley, L., Lyon, P. M., Ralston, S. J., Hibbert, E. J., Cunningham, I., Gordon, F. C., & Field, M. J. (2004). Clinical skills in junior medical officers: a comparison of self-reported confidence and observed competence. *Medical education*, *38*(4), 358-367.

Biernat, K., Simpson, D., Duthie Jr, E., Bragg, D., & London, R. (2003). Primary care residents self assessment skills in dementia. *Advances in health sciences education*, 8(2), 105-110.

Biggs, J. (1999). What the student does: teaching for enhanced learning. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *18*(1), 57-75.

Biggs,J.(1999). Figure on Constructive Alignment. Retrieved from <u>http://exchange.ac.uk/learning-and-teaching-theory-guide/constructive-alignment.html</u>

Blumenthal, D., Gokhale, M., Campbell, E. G., & Weissman, J. S. (2001). Preparedness for clinical practice: reports of graduating residents at academic health centers. *JAMA*, 286(9), 1027-1034.

Blunden, M. (2008). South-south development cooperation: Cuba's health programmes in Africa. *Int J Cuban Stud*, *1*(1), 32-41.

Boud, D., & Walker, D. (1991). *Experience and Learning: Reflection at Work. EAE600 Adults Learning in the Workplace: Part A*. Adult and Workplace Education, Faculty of Education, Deakin University, Geelong, Victoria, Australia 3217.

Boud, D., Keogh, R., & Walker, D. (Eds.). (2013). *Reflection: Turning experience into learning*. Routledge.

Breier, M. (2007,August 20). The shortage of medical doctors in South Africa. *Draft case study* report forming part of the HSRC study: A multiple source identification and verification of scarce and critical skills in the South African labour market. Client report commissioned by the Department of Labour. retrieved from: <u>http://www.labour.gov.za/DOL/downloads/documents/research-</u> <u>documents/Medical%20Doctors_DoL_Report.pdf</u>

Briggs, C. L. (2011). "All Cubans are doctors!" news coverage of health and bioexceptionalism in Cuba. *Social Science & Medicine*, *73*(7), 1037-1044.

Buss, M. K., Marx, E. S., & Sulmasy, D. P. (1998). The preparedness of students to discuss end-oflife issues with patients. *Academic Medicine*, 73(4), 418-22.

Campinha-Bacote J (1999) A model and instrument for addressing cultural competence in health care. *Journal of Nurse Education* 38 (5): 203- 207.

Campinha-Bacote, J. (2002). Cultural competence in psychiatric nursing: Have you "ASKED" the right questions? *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 8(6), 183-187.

Coberly, L., & Goldenhar, L. M. (2007). Ready or not, here they come: acting interns' experience and perceived competency performing basic medical procedures. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 22(4), 491-494.

Cook, M.,Irby,D.M.,& O'Brien,B.C.(2010). Educating Physicians: a call for reform of medical Schools and residency. Vol.16. John Wiley &Sons.

Cormier, S., and Hagmam, J. (1987). Transfer of Learning. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Couper, I., & Mash, B. (2008). Obtaining consensus on core clinical skills for training in family medicine. *South African Family Practice* 50(6), 69-73.

Culhane-Pera, K. A., Reif, C., Egli, E., Baker, N. J., & Kassekert, R. (1996). A curriculum for multicultural education in family medicine. *Family Medicine*, *29*(10), 719-723.

Department of Foreign Affairs South Africa. (2013, October 21). Retrieved from http://www.dfa.gov.za/foreign/bilateral/cuba.html

De Vos, P., & Bonet, M. (2004). Health and human rights in Cuba. The lancet, 364(25), 2177.

De Vos, P., Murla, P., Rodriguez, A., Bonet, M., Mas, P., & Van Der Stuyft, P. (2005). Shifting the demand for Emergency care in Cuba's health system. *Social Science and & Medicine 60*, 609-616.

De Vries, E., & Reid, S. (2003). Do South African medical students of rural origin return to rural practice? *South African Medical Journal*, *93*, 789-793.

Dreyfus, S. E., & Dreyfus, H. L. (1980). A five-stage model of the mental activities involved in directed skill acquisition (No. ORC-80-2). California Univ Berkeley Operations Research Center.

Eyal, N., & Bärnighausen, T. (2012). Precommitting to serve the underserved. . *American Journal* of *Bioethics*, *5*, 23-34.

Epstein, R. M., & Hundert, E. M. (2002). Defining and assessing professional competence. *Jama*, 287(2), 226-235.

Farmer, P., E, Furin, J., & Katz, J., T. (2004). Global Health Equity *The Lancet, 363*, 1832-1833. Farmer, E., Van Rooij, J., Riemersma, J., Jorna, P., & Moraal, J. (1999). Handbook of simulatorbased training.

Fincher, R. M., & Lewis, L. A. (1994). Learning, experience, and self-assessment of competence of third-year medical students in performing bedside procedures. *Academic Medicine*, *69*(4), 291-5.

Flegel, K. (2009). A Cuban revolution in medical education: A commentary on Huish. *Social Science & Medicine* 69, 305-306.

Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, et al. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. *Lancet 2010;* 376: *1923-1958*.

Gorry, C., L. (2008). Cuban Health Cooperation Turns 45. Medicc Review, 10(1), 44-47.

Grad, A. F. W., Wellard, S., & Bethune, E. (2001). Assessing Australian undergraduate clinical learning. *Collegian*, 8(4), 9-13.

Gravett, S., & Geyser, H. C. (2004). Teaching and learning in higher education. Van Schaik.

Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries. *ECTJ*, 29(2), 75-91.

Health Systems Trust. (2013, August 29). Retrieved from http://www.hst.org.za/news/south-africanmedical-school-seeks-combat-shortage-rural-doctors

Health Professions Council of South Africa, HPCSA.(2014). Retrieved from http://www.hpcsa.co.za/uploads/editor/UserFiles/downloads/medical_dental/MDB%20Core%20Co mpetencies%20-%20ENGLISH%20-%20FINAL%202014.pdf

Harden, R. M., Sowden, S., & Dunn, W. R. (1984). Educational strategies in curriculum development: the SPICES model. *Medical education*, *18*(4), 284-297.

Harden, R. M. (1999). AMEE Guide No. 14: Outcome-based education: Part 1-An introduction to outcome-based education. *Medical teacher*, 21(1), 7-14.

Harrison, D. (2009). An overview of health and health care in South Africa 1994–2010: Priorities, progress and prospects for new gains. *Washington, DC: Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation*.

Huish, R. (2009). How Cuba's latin American School of medicine challenges the ethics of physician migration. *Social Science & Medicine 69*, 301-304.

Huish, R. (2008). Going where no doctor has gone before: The role of Cuba's Latin American School of Medicine in meeting the needs of some of the world's most vulnerable populations. *Public health*, *122*(6), 552-557.

Iatridis, D., S. (1990). Cuba's health care policy:prevention and active community. *Social Work,* 35(1), 29-35.

Jaschinski, J., & De Villiers, M. R. (2008). Factors influencing the development of practical skills of interns working in regional hospitals of the Western Cape province of South Africa. *South African Family Practice*, *50*(1), 70-70.

Joint Academic Meeting. (2012,October 29.) South African Committee of Medical Deans. Report on the Cuba-South Africa Third Joint Academic Meeting, Havana.

Jonassen, D.H. & Grabowski, B. (1993). Individual differences and instruction. New York: Allen & Bacon.

Kotzee, T. J., & Couper, I. D. (2006). What interventions do South African qualified doctors think will retain them in rural hospitals of the Limpopo province of South Africa. *Rural Remote Health*, *6*(3), 581.

Kolb, A., Y, & Kolb, D., A. (2005). Learning Styles and Learning Spaces: Enhancing Experiential Learning in Higher Education. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *4*(2), 193.

Kolb, D., A. (1984). *Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

Kujawa, S., & Huske, L. (1995). Strategic teaching and reading project guidebook. NCREL.

Lassa,P.N.& Enoh,A.O.(2000). The Nature and Function of Theoretical Framework In Educational Research. *Journal of Educational Studies*, University of JOS, Nigeria.

Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2005). *Practical research: Planning and design* (8th Ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Long,C.(2012,November 20). Retrieved from http://www.universityworldnews.com/article.php?story=20120928140901202 Malterud, K. (2001). Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines *The Lancet*, 358(9280), 483-488.

Maran, N. J., & Glavin, R. J. (2003). Low-to high-fidelity simulation–a continuum of medical education? *Medical education*, *37*(s1), 22-28.

Matthews, M.,(2012). Health Professions Council of South Africa: Overview of clinical skills training in the MBCHB programme presented to HPCSA as part of the curriculum review university documentation for the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine.

McGaghie, W. C., Issenberg, S. B., Cohen, M. E. R., Barsuk, J. H., & Wayne, D. B. (2011). Does simulation-based medical education with deliberate practice yield better results than traditional clinical education? A meta-analytic comparative review of the evidence. *Academic medicine: journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 86(6), 706.

Miller GE. The Assessment of Clinical Skills Performance. Acad Med 1990; 65 (Suppl): 563-567

Miller GE. The Assessment of Clinical Skills/Competence/Performance; Acad Med 1990 65(9):63-67. Adapted by Drs R. Mehay & R. Burns, UK (Jan 2009) available from http://www.abovek.or.kr/eng/file/12.%20NAVMEC.pdf

Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994) *Qualitative Data Analysis: an Expanded Sourcebook,* Thousand Oaks, Calif., Sage.

Morales, I., R, Fernandez, J., A, & Duran, F. (2008). Cuban medical education: aiming for the sixstar doctor. *Medicc Review*, *10*(4), 5-9.

Mullan, F. (2004). Affirmative Action, Cuban Style. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 351, 2680-2682.

Ngidi, J.(2013). Fifth year academic exams office, Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban.

Perkins, D. N., & Salomon, G. (1992). Transfer of learning. *International Encyclopedia of Education* (2nd ed.). Oxford, UK: Pergamon Press

Perkins, D., and Salomon, G. (1996). Learning transfer. In A. Tuijnman (Ed.), International encyclopedia of adult education and training. Kidlington, Oxford: Pergamon Press.
Quintana, F., Sarasa, N., L, Canizares, O., & Huguet, Y. (2012). Assessment of a complementary curricular strategy for training South African physicians in a Cuban medical university. *Medicc Review 14*(3), 19-24.

Reed, G., & Torres, J. (2008). Training and Retaining more rural doctors for South Africa. *Medicc Review*, *10*(1), 49-51.

Ringsted, C., Hodges, B., & Scherpbier, A. (2011). The research compass: An introduction to research in medical education: AMEE Guide NO.56. *Medical Teacher*, *33*, 695-709.

Royal College of Canada. (2013,April 16). Canmeds Framework. Retrieved from http://www.royalcollege.ca/portal/page/portal/rc/common/documents/canmeds/framework/the_7_canmeds_roles_e.pdf

Ruedy, J. (2007). Assessing students-Clinical competence versus performance. *IeJSME*, 1(1), 15-21.

Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for information*, 22(2), 63-75.

Simpson JA, Weiner ES. The Oxford english dictionary: Clarendon Press Oxford; 1989

Smith, A.D. (2013, January 9). South African Medical School seeks to combat shortage of rural doctors: Ukwanda clinical school pioneers programme that sends final-year students to live and work in rural health districts. Retrieved from <u>http://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2013/jan/09/south-african-medical-school-rural-doctors</u>

Statistics South Africa. (2011, April20). Census,2011. Retrieved from <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/Census2011/Products/Census_2011_Methodology_and_Highlights_of_k</u> <u>ey_results.pdfj</u> Suter, W. N. (2005 SAGE Publications). *Introduction to Educational Research: A Critical Thinking Approach*. CA: SAGE Publications.

ten Cate, T. J. O., Snell, L., & Carraccio, C. (2010). Medical competence: the interplay between individual ability and the health care environment. *Medical teacher*, *32*(8), 669-675.

UKZN Curriculum documents. (2012). Curriculum Overview of training in the MBCHB programme presented to HPCSA as part of the curriculum review university documentation for the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine.

Van Heerden, B. (2013).Effectively addressing the health needs of South Africa's population: The role of health professions education in the 21st century. *SAMJ:South African Medical Journal*, ; Vol 103, (1), 21-22.

Van Wyk, J., &Madiba,T.E.(2006).Problem based learning at the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine. *East and Central African Journal of Surgery*,11(2),3-9.

Wilson, N., W, Couper, I., D, De Vries, E., Reid, S., Fish, T., & Marais, B., J. (2009). A critical review of interventions to redress the inequitable distribution of healthcare professionals to rural and remote areas. *Rural Remote Health*, *9*, 1060.

World Health Organization. (2006, June 1). The World Health Report 2006 — working together for health. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/whr/2006/en/index.html

Waitzkin, H., Wald, K., Kee, R., Danielson, R., & Robinson, L. (1997). Primary care in Cuba: lowand high-technology developments pertinent to family medicine. *The Journal of family practice*, 45(3), 250-258.

Weissman, J. S., Betancourt, J., Campbell, E. G., Park, E. R., Kim, M., Clarridge, B., ... & Maina, A. W. (2005). Resident physicians' preparedness to provide cross-cultural care. *Jama*, 294(9), 1058-1067.

Yusof, Z. Y., Jaafar, N., Jallaludin, R. L. R., Abu-Hassan, M. I., & Razak, I. A. (2010). Malaysian Dental Graduates' Competence in Holistic Care: What Do Graduates and Employers Think?. *Journal of dental education*, 74(12), 1380-1387.

Zonia, S. C., & Stommel, M. (2000). Interns' Self-evaluations Compared with Their Faculty's Evaluations. *Academic Medicine*, *75*(7), 742. Simpson JA, Weiner ES. The Oxford english dictionary: Clarendon Press Oxford; 1989

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Study information Document

Title: Exploring the impact of experience-based medical learning on students' clinical preparedness: A case study of the South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration programme at the University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa

Dear Participant

I am, Dr Munira Motala a lecturer at the University of KwaZulu-Natal assigned to the coordination and clinical support of 4th year students. I have a particular interest in the improvement of teaching and students' learning on the MBChB programme at the university. To this end, I have been granted permission to explore the educational experiences of students on the program.me.

I have noticed that South African students returning after the Cuban training programme do need additional support when entering the clinical setting. I am therefore specifically interested in your experiences and training during the Cuban –South African collaboration program and the sufficiency thereof to help you face clinical challenges in the local setting. I believe that the research will contribute to our understanding of your challenges when returning to complete the programme in South Africa. A better understanding will allow us to provide more effective support in the future.

To that end, your participation will require

- That you may be asked to complete questionnaires
- That you be interviewed (perhaps more than once)
- Each interview will last about forty-five minutes in length
- The interviews may be audio-taped

If you agree to participate, then your identity will be protected (anonymised) and you have the right to withdraw your participation at any stage.

All data recordings, transcripts and signed consent forms will be stored in safe, locked cupboards, and destroyed after the completion of the study.

Should you require any information, clarification, assistance or details about the ethics of this study you may contact the ethics administrator in the School of Humanities and Social Science (contact details listed below). Additional detail of the study can be obtained from me, or my supervisor (contact details listed below).

Thank you so much in advance for your participation.
Approval No: <u>HSS/0983/013M</u>
Ethics approval obtained from : HSSREC Research Office contact details: Ms P Ximba, Tel: 031 260 3587, Email: <u>ximbap@ukzn.ac.za</u>

Researcher name and contact details:	Supervisor name and contact details:
Dr Munirah Motala	Dr Van Wyk
College of Health Sciences	College of Health Sciences
Telephone: 0731148021/2603132	Telephone: 031 260-4336
motalam@ukzn.ac.za	vanwyk@ukzn.ac.za

Appendix 2: Informed Consent Document

<u>Title: Exploring the impact of experience-based medical learning on students' clinical</u> <u>preparedness: A case study of the South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration</u> <u>programme at the University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa</u>

Declaration

I ______ (full names of participant) hereby confirm that I understand the contents of this document and the nature of this research project and I consent to participating in essay writing and interviews.

I understand that I am at liberty to withdraw from the project at any time, should I so desire.

SIGNATURE OF PARTICIPANT

DATE

SIGNATURE OF WITNESS

DATE

Appendix 3: Ethical Approval Document



17 September 2013

Dr Munirah Motala (893281499) School of Clinical Medicine Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine

Protocol reference number: HSS/0983/013M Project title: Exploring the Impact of experience-based medical learning on students' clinical preparedness: A case study of the South-African-Cuban medical training collaboration programme at the University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa

Dear Dr Motala

I wish to Inform you that your application has been granted Full Approval.

Expedited Approval

Any alteration/s to the approved research protocol i.e. Questionnaire/Interview Schedule, Informed Consent Form, Title of the Project, Location of the Study, Research Approach and Methods must be reviewed and approved through the amendment/modification prior to its implementation. In case you have further queries, please quote the above reference number. Please note: Research data should be securely stored in the discipline/department for a period of 5

I take this opportunity of wishing you everything of the best with your study.

Yours faithfully

Dr Shenuka Singh (Chair)

/ms

cc Supervisor: Jacky van Wyk cc Academic Leader Research: Professor M Mars cc School Administrator: Ms D Arumugam

Humanities & Social Sciences Research Ethics Committee

 Humanittes & Social Sciences Research Ethics Committee Dr Shenuka Singh (Acting Chair) Westville Campus, Govan Mbeki Building Postal Address: Private Bag X54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa

 Telephone: +27 (0)31 260 3587/8350/4557 Facsimile: +27 (0)31 260 4609 Email: ximbap@ukzn.ac.za / snymanm@ukzn.ac.za / mohunp@ukn.ac.za

 Website: www.ukzn.ac.za Medical School Founding Campuses: III Edgewood Howard College Retermaritzburg Westville INSPIRING GREATNESS

Appendix 4: Interview Questions

Semi-structured Interview:

- How have your experiences in the clinics, hospitals and community impacted on your learning? Do you think that these experiences offered you sufficient avenues to expand your knowledge, people skills and practice?
- 2. When were you first exposed to clinical learning? What was the context?
- 3. Describe what your clinical experiences were like.
- 4. How were you supervised? Was this adequate to improve your techniques? Who supervised you at the skills lab/clinic/hospital/community?
- 5. How often were you exposed to bedside teaching?
- 6. Describe your learning relationship with tutors, professors, doctor and specialists etc.
- 7. Describe your experience of clinical examinations. Where did they occur and how were they conducted?
- 8. Did you have adequate time for self-reflection and to improve practice before these marks were recorded or counted towards final marks?
- 9. Did you receive any feedback, mentorship or support to make sense of your experiences?
- 10. How can the clinical experiences in Cuba be improved to ensure that you make an easier transition when you join the UKZN medical school?

Appendix 5: Questionnaire 1

Thank you for participating in this study. Please read the questionnaires below in conjunction with the document titled "Study information and Informed Consent Document".

Instructions for completing the questionnaires below:

- a. The questionnaire will be explained by Dr Motala and you are welcome to ask for clarification.
- b. Please answer all questions as accurately as possible. Circle the correct answer.
- c. Please print your answers clearly with a pen.
- d. Please note that all information will be kept completely confidential.

Section A :	Personal/Biographic Details
Student Number	
Age	
Nationality	
Home language	
Home Province	
Parent's	Mother:
occupation	Father:
	No parents/ Deceased/absent parents
How many	
siblings do you	
have?	
Where do you fit	Oldest, middle, youngest
in the family?	
What subjects did	
you do in your	
final year at	
school	

Did you have				
access to	Yes	no		
textbooks at				
school?				
Did you have				
access to a	Yes	no		
computer at school				
Did you have	Home		school	
access to a				
computer at	Yes	no	yes	no
home/school?				
Did you have	Home		school	
access to the				
internet at school	Yes no		yes	no
or home ?				
Were you able to				
manage your time	Yes	no		
effectively to				
study?				
What was your	Less than 50,	71-80;		
overall class	51-60;	81-90;		
percentage in	61-70;	91-100		
matric?				

Beetion Di Budeutional Experience while Bidaying in Caba
--

Generic Skills			Explain for which subject
D'1 1 1			
Did you do oral			
presentations in front of	Yes	No	
your peers and a			
tutor/lecturer?			
Were you involved in any			If yes how common
team based tasks? eg.	Yes.	No	was it to be involved
working in groups with			in teamwork?
fellow students?			Daily
			Weekly
			Monthly
Did you use resources from	yes	no	
the library during your			
studies?			
How often did you go to	3-5 times per	Less than	Never
the library?	week	3 times per	
		week	
Did you receive training in	yes	no	
accessing internet			
resources?			
Did you use textbooks	yes	no	
during your studies?			
Were these books	yes	no	Borrowed Bought
borrowed from the library?			from through

?			friends	bursary
Were you given study	yes	no	Which	
notes and lecture material			year/s of	
during your studies?			study?	
			Year 1	
			Year 2	
			Year 3	
			Year 4	
Did you have an electronic	Yes	no		
resource website that you				
could access lecture				
material? eg moodle				
Did you use the internet to				
access information on a	Yes	No		
research topic?				
Did you conduct research				
projects during your	yes	no		
studies in Cuba?				
Did you do community				
projects with local people	yes	no		
outside the medical school				
in Cuba?				
Did you do any				
assignments where you				
needed to write reports?	yes	no		

What study skills did you				
use during the last few				
years of study?				
What time management				
skills did you use to ensure				
that you were well				
prepared for assignments				
and assessments?				
How did you manage stress				
while studying and during				
examinations?				
Curriculum Approach/Con	ntent			
Which teaching style was	Problem based	Lecture	Other: pleas	e explain
used in Cuba?	learning/student	based		
	centred learning	through		
		teacher		
		centred		
		learning		
Can you remember your	Yes.	No	If yes please	e list
first year subjects in Cuba?				
Can you remember your	Yes.	no	If yes please	elist
second year subjects in				
Cuba?				

Can you remember your	Yes.	no	If yes please	e list
third year subjects in				
Cuba?				
Can you remember what	Yes.	no	If yes please	elist
subjects you studied in				
your fourth year in Cuba?				
Can you remember what	yes	no	If yes	
subjects you studied in			please list	
your fifth year in Cuba?				
Where did you spend most	At university	Please expla	un.	
of your academic time in	At clinics			
your final year in Cuba?	At hospitals			
	other			
At this stage, do you think			If no, please	e explain
that you have a good	yes	no		
knowledge and				
understanding of common				
diseases in South Africa				
like TB, HIV and other				
infectious diseases for				
future practice?				

Appendix 6: Questionnaire 2

Clinical Examination Skills Questionnaire 2:

Instruction: With reference to the skills listed on the left, indicate your responses in the appropriate column. Column A needs you to answer yes or no. For all the remaining columns indicate your response by answering A, B, C or D

or all that apply

	Column a	Colun	Column b		Column c				
	Answer	What	setti	ng/for	rmat	How	well	can	you
	yes or no	was	used	in	the	perfor	m this ski	i11	
	If <u>No</u> then	teachi	ng?						
	move on	a.	Lectur	e		a.	Indepen	dently	
	to the next	b. c.	Ward Labora	atorv		b. c.	With su With rev	perv1s vision	sion
	question.	d.	All of	the at	oove	d.	Not at a	11	
	Were you								
	taught								
	this skill?								
Adult Physical Examination:									
1. General examination									
2. Cardiovascular									
3. Respiratory									
4. Abdominal									
5. Neurological									
6. Obstetrical									
7. Gynaecological									

	1		
8. Neck and Thyroid			
examination			
9. Examination of the male			
external genitalia			
	Were you	What setting were you	What level can you
	taught this	taught in?	perform this skill
	skill?		Periodi and came
		A Lecture	A Independently
	Answer	B Ward	B With supervision
	yes or no.	C Laboratory	C With revision
	If No then	D All of the above	D Not at all
	move on		
	to the next		
	question.		
10. Rectal examination			
Newborn Examination			
11. General examination of			
the newborn			
Radiological examinations			
12. CXR			
13. Abdominal XR			
14. XR Bones and Joints			
Specimen Collection			
<u>Specifien Conection</u>			

15. Fungal scrapes			
16 Wound anala			
16. wound swabs			
	Were you	What setting were you	At What level can you
	taught this	in, when you were	perform this skill?
	skill?	taught the skill?	
			A Independently
	Answer	A Lecture	B With supervision
	yes or no.	B Ward	C With revision
		C Laboratory	D Not at all
	If No then	D All of the above	
	move on		
	to the next		
	skill.		
	If yes		
	please		
	answer		
	the next 3		
	questions		
17. Blood culture			
18. Nasal and throat swab			
19. Urine and stool specimen			
20. Gastric washings			
21. Sputum collection			
22. Pus aspirate			
23. Pus swabs			
24. Urine collection (mid-			

stream urine, catheter specimen urine)			
25. Use of urine dipstick			
Obstetric and Gynae			
procedures			
	Were you	What setting were you	At what level can you
	taught this	in, when you were	perform this skill?
	skill?	taught the skill?	
			A Independently
	Answer	A Lecture	B With supervision
	yes or no.	B Ward	C With revision
	If No then	C Laboratory	D Not at all
	move on	D All of the above	
	to the next		
	question.		
26. Pap smear and plating of smear			
27. Speculum insertion			
28. Mechanism of labour and delivery- using the model			
<u>Airway management</u>			
procedures			
29. Insertion of oropharyngeal airway			
30. Cricoid pressure			
31. Suctioning of airway			

32. Bag –valve mask			
reservoir ventilation			
33. Orotracheal intubation			
34. Oxygen administration			
	Were you	What setting were you	At what level can you
	taught this	in when you were	perform this skill?
			perform tins skin:
	SK111?	taught the skill?	
			A Independently
	Answer		B With supervision
	yes or no.	A Lecture	C With revision
	If No then	B Ward	D Not at all
	move on	C Laboratory	
	to the next	D All of the above	
	question.		
35. Use of nasal cannulae			
36. Use of laryngeal mask			
airway			
37. Use of face masks			
Asthma adjuncts			
38. Peak flow meter			
39. Metred dose inhaler			

40. Spacer devices			
41. Nebulisation			
Procedures			
	Wora you	What softing ware you	At what level can you
	tought this	in when you were	At what level call you
		taught the skill?	
	SKIII?	taught the skin?	
			A independently
	Answer		B With supervision
	yes or no.	A Lecture	C With revision
	If No then	B Ward	D Not at all
	move on	C Laboratory	
	to the next	D All of the above	
	question.		
42. Rapid cholesterol test			
43. Glucogel administration			
44. Administration of 50%			
dextrose			
45. Haemoglucotest			
46. Measuring body temperature			

47. Rapid Hiv test			
48. Mantoux			
49. 12 lead ECG			
	Were you	What setting were you	At what level can you
	taught this	in, when you were	perform this skill?
	skill?	taught the skill?	
			A Independently
	Answer	A Lecture	B With supervision
	yes or no.	B Ward	C With revision
	If No then	C Laboratory	D Not at all
	move on	D All of the above	
	to the next		
	question.		
50. Infant anthropometry (wt and length, ofc infant.)			
51. Adult Anthropometry (body mass index, skin fold thickness (triceps,biceps,scapular), mid-arm circumference, waist to hip ratio ,)			
52. Peripheral IV cannulation			
53. Insertion of central venous line			
54. Lumbar puncture			
55. Spinal block			

56. Nasogastric tube insertion			
57. Blood collection			
58. Urinary catheterisation			
Resuscitation			
	Were you	What setting were you	At what level can you
	taught this	in, when you were	perform this skill?
	skill?	taught the skill?	
		A Lecture	A Independently
	Answer	B Ward	B With supervision
	yes or no.	C Laboratory	C With revision
	If No then	D All of the above	D Not at all
	move on		
	to the next		
	question.		
59. One man CPR for an	1		
adult, child, infant			
60. Preparation and			
ECG monitoring			
equipment			
61. Automated external			
defibrillation			
62. Defibrillator			

63. Neonatal resuscitation		
64. Recognition of cardiac arrest arrhythmias		

<u>Instruction: With reference to the communication skills listed on the left, indicate your</u> <u>responses in the appropriate column. Column A needs you to answer yes or no.</u> For all the remaining columns indicate your response by answering A, B, C, D, E or all that apply

	Column a	Column b	Column c	Column d
	Were you	What setting were	At what level can	Are you
	taught this	you in, when you	you perform this	able to
	skill?	were taught the	skill?	perform
	Answer yes	skill?		this skill
	or no.	A Lecture	A Independently	in:
	If No then	B Ward	B With	A Spanish
	move on to	C Laboratory	supervision	
	the next	D All of the	C With revision	B English
	question.	above	D Not at all	C Both
Communication Skills				
65. Approach to				
communication				
66. General history taking				
67. Cardiovascular history				
68. Respiratory history				
69. Gastrointestinal				
history				
70. Neurological history				
71. Obstetrical history				
				f

72. Gynaecological		
history		
73. Urinary history		
74. Bereavement		
counselling/breaking bad		
news		
75. Counselling of HIV		
positive patient (Pre and		
Post-test counselling)		